Report on the Day Therapy Centre (DTC) Program data development field test

The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare is Australia's national health and welfare statistics and information agency. The Institute's mission is to improve the health and wellbeing of Australians by informing community discussion and decision making through national leadership in developing and providing health and welfare statistics and information. WELFARE DIVISION WORKING PAPER

Number 39

Report on the Day Therapy Centre (DTC) Program data development field test

Melinda Petrie and Mieke Van Doeland

September 2002

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare Canberra © Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2002

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, no part may be reproduced without prior written permission from the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be directed to the Head, Media and Publishing, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, GPO Box 570, Canberra ACT 2601.

A complete list of the Institute's publications is available from the Publications Unit, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, GPO Box 570, Canberra ACT 2601, or via the Institute's web site at http://www.aihw.gov.au.

Suggested citation

Petrie M & Van Doeland M 2002. Report on the DTC Program data development field test September 2002. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (Welfare Division Working Paper No. 39).

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare

Board Chair Dr Sandra Hacker

Director Dr Richard Madden

Any inquiries about or comments on this publication should be directed to:

Mieke Van Doeland Australian Institute of Health and Welfare GPO Box 570 Canberra ACT 2601

Phone: (02) 6244 1083

Contents

Lis	t of tables	vii
Acl	knowledgments	viii
1	Purpose	1
	1.1 Introduction	1
	1.2 This report	1
	1.3 The field test	2
2	Field test stage 1	3
	2.1 Scope	3
	2.2 Collection methods	4
	2.3 Results	4
	2.4 Summary of feedback	7
3	Consultation: stage 1	19
	Form A: DTC data	19
	Form B: Client data	19
	Meeting with stakeholders	20
4	Modifications and additions	21
	Form A: DTC data	21
	Form B: Client data	22
5	Field test stage 2	24
	5.1 Scope	24
	5.2 Collection methods	24
	5.3 Results	25
	5.4 Summary of feedback	
6	Consultation: stage 2	
	Form A: DTC data	
	Form B: Client data	
	Guidelines	

7	Modifications and additions	.41
	Form A: DTC data	.41
	Form B: Client data	.41
	Guidelines	. 42
8	The National DTC Census	.43
Ap	pendix A: Field test stage 1 Forms A and B	.45
Ap	pendix B: Field test stage 1 Feedback Form	.53
Ap	pendix C: Stakeholders meeting attendees	.61
Ap	pendix D: Field test stage 2 Forms A and B	.63
Ap	pendix E: Scenarios	.71
	Scenario 1	.71
	Scenario 2	.72
	Scenario 3	.73
Ap	pendix F: Field test stage 2 Feedback Form	.75

List of tables

Table 1: Number of DTCs providing a type of assistance	5
Table 2: Number of DTC clients who are of Aboriginal &/or Torres Strait Islander origin	6
Table 3: Number of clients with a carer & their relationship	6
Table 4: Health conditions reported as the client's main reason for referral	7
Table 5: Field test stage 1. Summary of feedback on Form A – DTC data	8
Table 6: Field test stage 1. Summary of feedback on Form B – Client data	10
Table 7: Number of DTCs providing a type of assistance	26
Table 8: Summary of data reported Scenarios 1, 2 and 3 (codes reported by the Proje Team are in bold)	
Table 9: Field test stage 2. Summary of feedback on Form A – DTC data	33
Table 10: Field test stage 2. Summary of feedback on Form B – Client data	34

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the following Day Therapy Centres who participated in the field test.

Norse Courth Maloo	
New South Wales	South Australia
Anglicare Chesalon Day Therapy Centre	Resthaven Southern Therapy Services
McQuoin Park Nursing Home Day Therapy Centre	Aged Care and Housing Group Southern Region Day Therapy
Condoblin Nursing Home	Health Focus
CA Brown Nursing Home	Helping Hand, Healthy Lifestyles
Eurobodalla Nursing Home	
Victoria	Western Australia
Victoria Violet Town Memorial Bush Nursing Home	Western Australia Cunningham Nursing Home
Violet Town Memorial Bush Nursing Home	Cunningham Nursing Home
Violet Town Memorial Bush Nursing Home Trewint Day Therapy Centre Moorfields Community Rehabilitation	Cunningham Nursing Home Carinya Day Therapy Centre

Wynnum Allied Health Service Wahroonga Day Therapy Centre Epworth Nursing Home Hopetoun Day Therapy Centre

1 Purpose

1.1 Introduction

The Day Therapy Centre (DTC) Program provides a wide range of therapies such as physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy and podiatry to frail and older people living in the community and to residents of Commonwealth-funded residential aged care facilities. These therapies are offered to individuals or groups of clients to assist them to maintain or recover a level of independence which will allow them to remain either in the community or in low level residential care.

In March 2001, the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing contracted the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare to undertake a project to identify information required for planning, monitoring and evaluation of the DTC Program. During the first phase of this project, work was undertaken to identify the information required to monitor the DTC Program's performance against its policy objectives. Since then, a data dictionary has been developed that includes definitions of draft performance indicators and the individual data items needed to report these indicators and to assist with planning and policy development in the DTC Program.

A Guidelines document and census forms to be used for the collection of these data items were also developed. In order to test the newly developed DTC census forms, a field test was conducted involving 13 DTC agencies from New South Wales, Victoria and South Australia. A second stage of this field test, aimed at testing the second draft of the census forms and the draft Guidelines document, was conducted with 9 DTC agencies from Queensland and Western Australia.

The national census is only one of several measures designed to assist with planning, monitoring and evaluation of the Program. However, the need to support future performance measurement and planning significantly influenced the content of the DTC national census.

1.2 This report

The purpose of this report is to provide feedback to Day Therapy Centres (DTCs) and the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing (DHA) on the data development field test for the DTC Program. Twenty-one DTCs contributed considerable time and effort to the process and the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) Project Team and the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing appreciate their contribution and are keen to provide all participating DTCs with the results of the field test.

This report includes detailed summaries of the comments and suggestions of DTCs as well as AIHW responses to those suggestions where possible.

The documents used during the field test are also included as Appendixes to this report.

The field test was conducted in two stages and the scope, collection methods, results, feedback, consultation and modifications and additions for each stage are described in Chapters 2 and 3 (Stage 1) and Chapters 5 and 6 (Stage 2).

1.3 The field test

The purpose of the field test was to:

- test the practicality, clarity and utility of draft information being considered for future reporting by DTCs (i.e. are definitions clear, understandable, provide comprehensive coding options etc.);
- test the quality of data reported (e.g. missing values, coding errors);
- identify any guidelines for collecting the information that need to be modified or added to ensure consistent interpretation and reporting; and
- assess the capacity of DTCs in different operational contexts (including funding level) to collect and report the data.

2 Field test stage 1

2.1 Scope

Questions

Stage 1 of the field test included a range of questions that were identified by the Project Team and the Central Office of the DHA as potential reporting requirements that would improve the availability of information about DTCs in Australia. The questions were divided into two forms: one form for the reporting of information relating to the individual DTC (Form A: DTC data), and a second form for reporting of data on each DTC client (Form B: Client data). Refer to Appendix A for copies of the forms used.

Day Therapy Centres

A selection of DTCs were chosen based on the following sampling criteria:

- metropolitan/non-metropolitan;
- large/small Commonwealth grant; and
- co-located with residential care facility/community-based.

Participation in the field test was voluntary. A total of 13 DTCs were included from New South Wales, Victoria and South Australia, with a reasonable range of DTCs meeting the above criteria. A list of the DTCs who participated in both stages of the field test is included under the Acknowledgments.

Participating DTCs individually determined the number of therapists to be involved in the field test and included a range of disciplines where possible.

Sample

A sample of 4 DTC clients was requested for reporting by each DTC, 3 DTC clients who had completed a period of treatment during the previous 12 months and 1 DTC client who was ongoing (e.g. a podiatry client). DTCs were requested to select clients to include those who received different types of therapies, and where possible, those who live in different settings, i.e. living at home versus living in a residential aged care service and receiving low level care. Clients for whom the DTC fully recovers the cost of assistance were excluded from the sample, for example clients who receive high level care in a residential setting.

2.2 Collection methods

The collection of the field test was paper-based. Participating DTCs were sent the field test material by 30 November 2001 and were requested to complete and return the data collection forms (Forms A and B) and the feedback form by 14 December 2001. All of the forms were received by mid January 2002, however 2 DTCs who receive a small level of funding were unable to complete the forms by the due date and were followed-up to provide verbal feedback on their capacity to report the information requested on the DTC and client forms.

2.3 Results

Information provided on the field test forms was entered into a spreadsheet to enable some analysis of the range of responses received. A total of 11 DTC data forms and 45 client data forms were documented. Although the client data from the field test is only a small sample, the following summary of results is however consistent with what would be expected for the target group for DTCs, i.e. frail older people and provides an indication of the type of information that can be analysed at an aggregate level for the Program.

Form A: DTC data

Direct service delivery (Question 6): This question requested DTCs to determine what percentage of their DTC funding is spent on direct service delivery to clients. The responses ranged from 64% to 100%. From the field test the average amount of DTC funding spent on service delivery was 85.8%.

Fee charging regime (Question 7): Fees charged for client attendance at DTCs vary between \$5.00 and \$10.00 per treatment/session. Fees charged per treatment/session are dependent on whether the client is receiving multiple therapies over the period of a week and whether they are provided with a meal and transport. Charges for group sessions vary between \$2.50 and \$5.25 per session. Most DTCs had an upper limit set at between \$15.00 and \$20.00 per week and had mechanisms in place for fees to be negotiated for those who are financially disadvantaged.

Staffing profile (Question 9): All of the disciplines included on the form were selected by the DTCs participating in the field test. The core elements of the staffing profile of the field test DTCs, are Occupational Therapists, Physiotherapists, Podiatrists, Allied Health Assistants and Nurses. The question also allowed for 'other' staff members to be identified and the responses provided included: Bus Driver, Maintenance, Handyman, Cleaner, Coffee Shop Supervisor and Assistant, Community Integration Coordinator, Health and Fitness Leaders, Activity Officer, Manager and Dietician.

Range of assistance (Question 10): Following is a summary (Table 1) of the range of assistance provided by the 11 DTCs who responded to the field test stage 1.

Type of assistance	No. DTCs	Type of assistance	No. DTCs
Occupational therapy	9	Social work	5
Physiotherapy	10	Nursing services	6
Hydrotherapy	5	Social support	7
Speech therapy	4	Food services	6
Podiatry	11	Transport (to & from DTC)	9
Diversional therapy	5	Counselling/support, information and advocacy	10
Group activities	10	Other	5

Table 1: Number of DTCs providing a type of assistance

The type of group activities varied considerably and included the following:

- outings, social activities;
- group exercises, strength training, tai chi, walking group;
- computer training, music, games, arts and crafts, gardening, cooking, reading, discussions, devotions;
- educational classes, e.g. memory improvement, confidence and self-esteem, stress management, self management
- dementia specific, low vision group, aphasia support group, falls prevention; and
- groups targeted at people who have had a stroke, have Parkinson's, chronic conditions.

The 'other' types of assistance reported included:

- pastoral care
- aromatherapy
- Community Integration relinking people to community activities and building of social/support networks
- massage therapy
- health and fitness classes
- continence clinics

Form B: Client data

Date of birth (Question 4) & Indigenous status (Question5)

Table 2 shows that of the field test sample, 91% were older DTC clients. Older DTC clients includes persons aged 70 and over or 50 and over for people of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander origin.

Age group	Indigenous	Non-Indigenous
50–54	0	0
55–59	1	0
60–64	0	1
65–69	0	3
70+	0	40
Total	1	44

Table 2: Number of DTC clients, Indigenous and non-Indigenous, by age

Government pension/benefit status (Question 7): 93% of DTC clients in the field test sample were in receipt of a government pension or benefit and of those the majority were in receipt of an aged pension.

Carer availability (Question 9), Co-residency status (Question 10) and Relationship of carer to care recipient (Question 11)

Table 3 shows that of the field test sample (45 clients) 62% of DTC clients had a carer. Of those clients with a carer 75% lived with the person for whom they cared and 48% of those carers were the wife or female partner.

Relationship of carer to the person	Co-resident carer	Non-resident carer
Wife/female partner	10	0
Husband/male partner	3	0
Daughter	6	3
Son	2	1
Other relative—female	0	1
Other relative—male	0	1
Friend/neighbour—female	0	1
Total	21	7

Table 3: Number of clients with a carer and their relationship

Health condition (Question 14): 80% of DTC clients had 0–5 health conditions reported in the field test. Table 4 is a list of the conditions that were identified as the health condition most likely related to the client's main reason for referral. Two DTC clients had no health condition reported.

Health condition	No. reported	Health condition	No. reported
Cerebrovascular disease	12	Chronic lower respiratory diseases	1
Other arthritis & related disorders	7	Deafness/hearing loss	1
Other disease of the circulatory system	3	Disorders of the thyroid gland	1
Paralysis—non-traumatic	3	Heart disease	1
Blindness	2	Injuries to the head	1
Dementia in Alzheimer's disease	2	Multiple sclerosis	1
Fracture of femur	2	Other diseases of the nervous system nos or nec	1
Other dementia nos or nec	2	Parkinson's disease	1
Back problems—dorsopathies	1	Psychoses & depression/ Mood affective disorders	1

Table 4: Health conditions reported as the client's main reason for referral

2.4 Summary of feedback

The AIHW developed a Feedback Form for completion by each DTC participating in the field test. A copy of this form can be found in Appendix B.

A total of 12 Feedback Forms were received from the 11 participating DTCs. The following tables summarise comments made on these forms and includes Project Team responses where appropriate.

Table 5 summarises comments on Form A relating to DTC data.

Table 6 summarise comments on Form B relating to Client data.

Question	Difficulty in reporting the information	Project Team response
Question 6: Direct service delivery	Accounting cost centres allocate funds to client care, administration, utilities, training etc.	The Guidelines now further define this item, including details on what administrative tasks are considered to be direct service delivery and what administrative tasks are not.
	It is difficult to gauge how much time is spent on administrative tasks compared to direct service delivery. I would see time spent on administrative tasks (e.g. completing case notes, liaising with referral sources etc.) as being part of the service delivery package to clients. I therefore calculated wages as a whole, not as a percentage of.	
	Figures established by reviewing monthly profit and loss to estimate the percentage of direct service delivery.	The re-drafted form asks for a percentage range to be reported, rather than an exact figure.
	This could be very difficult to answer if no breakdown for expenditure was available. It would be very time consuming to extract exact figures.	
	Conferred with the finance manager to ensure accuracy.	
	As our central office and business manager look after this area it is not something I was able to answer and therefore directed the question to them.	
Other questions	Question 9: Feel that 'administration' does not adequately explain the range of work conducted. There is 'client contact' management i.e. receiving referrals/inquiries, conducting review meetings and service planning and there is 'non-contact client administration' which covers accounts, statistics, data entry, typing letters and general administration.	Q9 (Staffing profile): Re-drafted form has been changed. The option 'Administrative staff' has been replaced by two options: 'Coordinator' and 'Other administrative staff'. The term coordinator has been clearly defined in the Guidelines.
	Question 9: Difficult to estimate as staff often work back to finish paperwork and sometimes paperwork is done whilst activities are running, i.e. may be 2 staff running activities and the other member doing some paperwork between attending to clients' personal care. Not enough boxes as most DTCs would have bus drivers, food services plus a cleaner.	Q9: On the re-drafted form, FTE has been replaced by average number of hours worked each week over the twelve months preceding the survey. As many DTC agencies do not employ bus drivers etc., extra boxes were not added. The 'Other' box is to be used for these positions.
	Question 9: As no one in the department works full-time I was only able to answer approximately. It would have been easier to show how many hours per week each person worked.	
	Question 5: The areas are too numerous to mention as groups are conducted across the Northern/Northwestern metro region in response to need/demand and capacity to respond. Home visits for successful Ageing and Community Integration are conducted on the same premise.	Q5 (Catchment area): The Guidelines now more precisely define this item, by asking for postcodes or Local Government Areas, and by providing instructions on how to determine what area is included.

Tahla 5. Fiald test stage 1. Summary of feedback on Form A – DTC data

ω

Question	Difficulty in reporting the information	
General comments	Question 8: Some of our documentation (e.g. for educational groups) is quite creative in that it captures pertinent information in a non-traditional and more valued format (e.g. a course enrolment form is used rather than a referral form, a course evaluation form is completed to document outcomes).	ltional ent
	Question 10: Because we provide transport to most of our clients (our bus does two trips each way a day) we then try and provide as much as we can while we have our clients here. This is why we are able to take a more holistic approach to these people who might otherwise have very little stimulation in a week. From a therapeutic approach we feel this is very important.	ר as we ry little

đ
تب
dat
σ
DTC
DTO
Ē
Ц
-
<
orm A
ы
Ę.
0
Ē.
on
0
4
ack
Ľ
6
1
σ
e
ູຍ
ч
ч
0
~
5
ar
ē
8
Ξ
n
Sun
. Sun
1. Sun
e 1. Sun
ge 1. Sun
ige 1. Sun
tage 1. Sun
stage 1. Sun
t stage 1. Sun
st stage 1. Sun
est stage 1. Sun
test stage 1. Sun
d test stage 1. Sun
ld test stage 1. Sun
eld test stage 1. Sun
Field test stage 1. Sun
Field test stage 1. Sun
): Field test stage 1. Sun
d): Field test stage 1. Sun
ed): Field test stage 1. Sun
ued): Field test stage 1. Sun
ued): Field test stage 1. Sun
inued): Field test stage 1. Sun
tinued): Field test stage 1. Sun
ntinued): Field test stage 1. Sun
ontinued): Field test stage 1. Sun
continued): Field test stage 1. Sun
(continued): Field test stage 1. Sun
5 (continued): Field test stage 1. Sun
: 5 (continued): Field test sta
e 5 (continued): Field test sta
: 5 (continued): Field test sta

	Diff inst	Difficulty understanding the question or instructions, and related comments	Difficulty in reporting this for all clients, and related comments	Project Team response
Question 1: DTC client ID	•	Is this a Dept. no.? I am not aware of any such number.	We allocate letters and numbers that uniquely identify our clients.	Guidelines now explain that this code may be a DTC agency code that already exists, or a
	•	Left it blank.	Currently a client ID system has not	code assigned to the client record specifically for the DTC survey. Also allows for variation
	•	We currently have no identification other than name.	been implemented to date, as we are not yet using an appropriate database that would enable this information to be	in structure of ID according to State/Territory or DTC, and that it may be alphanumeric.
	•	Do not have one.	easily recorded.	
	•	We created a number for the purpose of	 Left it blank. 	
		this study. Clients do not normally have a number.	We currently have no identification other than name.	
			Do not have one.	
			Clients do not normally have a number.	
Question 2: Letters of person's name	•	Clients who have only four or less letters to their name.	Need to recognise that not everyone has five letters in their surname (e.g. Mr Ng).	Form provided instructions for this, but these instructions are now in the Guidelines
			Time consuming	document, including an example of how to record, with an explanation of this item's
			 The privacy act: when people do not wish to pass on information. 	relevance and reference to confidentiality issues.
Question 4: Date of birth			Time consuming	The comment 'Time consuming' by one of the field test DTCs mostly referred to the fact that they felt that the full survey would be time construction if it had to he comoloted for all
Question 5: Indigenous status	•	It is not a question that we ask clients on assessment.	 We do not collect this data for all clients. It is not a question that we ask clients on assessment. 	The revised form has an 'Unknown' option.

Question	Difficulty understanding the question or instructions, and related comments	Difficulty in reporting this for all clients, and related comments	Project Team response
Question 6: Country of birth	 No Holland, have put Netherlands. 	 Not a standard assessment question. 	The revised form has an 'Unknown' option.
		 Do not routinely collect country of origin, only language spoken. 	
		• Yes	
		• Yes	
Question 7: Government pension/benefit status	Note spelling error in question.	There are indirect benefits such as government assistance for subsidised services.	The Guidelines now state that this question relates to income only, not other subsidies.
		Sometimes hard to ascertain as clients are unsure.	The revised form has an 'Unknown' option.
		 Not a standard assessment question. 	
		• Yes	
		 No way of confirming status. Most people are pensioners and say so. Sometimes I think if they were not pensioners they might say they are. I have a few on super & the odd self funded. 	The Guidelines explain clearly that this question should be coded 'no' if a person is a self-funded retiree. However, if the person has stated that they are on a government pension, the code should be 'yes' (as there is no way of knowing if it is true, as is the case with other self-reported questions e.g.

Table 6 (continued): Field test stage 1. Summary of feedback on Form B – Client data

(continued)

Question	ur ins	Difficulty understanding the question or instructions, and related comments	Difficulty in reporting this for all clients, and related comments	Project Team response
Question 8a, b & c: Suburb, postcode &	•	c: one client lived at home for half the	Time consuming	The question stated 'at the time of first
accommodation setting		year and moved into low residential care but sill attends DTC here—ticked both home & residential care.	c: We do not normally ask our clients whether they own or rent their home.	assessment for this referral'. However, on the revised form this question now relates to the time of the survev instead.
			• Yes	On the revised form the tick boxes have been
			 With the changes to the names of aged care facilities it will be hard to know 	changed to allow for people to code 'private residence', if tenure is not known.
			whether people are low or high level care. We will need to add question to assessment and inform facility to advise us if the client is low or high lavel	The accommodation question on the revised form now also has two 'Unknown' options built into it.
Question 9: Carer availability	•	Again client home alone and then into hostel with carers.	 What do you put if in low care residential—do you tick carer? 	The carer questions are not applicable to clients who are permanent residents of
	•	Not applicable for residential clients.	Time consuming	residential aged care service. Instructions to skip these questions are now incorporated in
	•	Wasn't sure whether someone in permanent care had a carer or not. After phone discussion changed this for one	 Yes, we do not always know this e.g. if a person comes for a specific reason, e.g. counselling or short term group. 	the revised form. The revised form has an 'Unknown' option.
		client to no.	 Sometimes we don't know who cares and how much. There can be different stories from different family members. 	
Question 10: Carer co-residency status	•	What do you tick if client from low care facility?	 Client may live with someone who assists but is not classed as carer. 	The carer questions are not applicable to clients who are permanent residents of
	•	Yes	Time consuming	residential aged care service. Instructions to skip these questions are now incorporated in
	•	Again not applicable to accommodation	• Yes	the revised form.
		ighes e.g. moster.	• Yes	The revised form has an 'Unknown' option.
	•	Usually you are told who lives with the client. Sometimes if more than husband or wife cannot always tell who is main carer.		The Guidelines include a definition of a carer and how to determine whether the level and type of assistance provided by another person is sufficient of identify them as a carer.

Table 6 (continued): Field test stage 1. Summary of feedback on Form B–Client data

42

Question	<u>ו</u> ה מי	Difficulty understanding the question or instructions, and related comments	Diff and	Difficulty in reporting this for all clients, and related comments	Project Team response
Question 11: Relationship of carer to care recipient	•	What do you tick if client from low care facility?	•	Who does a client live with regardless of carer status.	The carer questions are not applicable to clients who are permanent residents of
	••	Not applicable to residential clients. Felt there could be a 'not applicable'	•	Sometimes hard to define how much time is given by each carer if client has dementia.	residential aged care service. Instructions to skip these questions are now incorporated in the revised form.
		care or 'other' so we could explain care.	•	Time consuming	The revised form has an 'Unknown' option.
			•	Yes	
Question 12: Date of initial assessment			•	All clients that accept our service are given an assessment regardless of whether they have a carer.	Sequencing error on form. This has been corrected.
			•	Time consuming	
Question 13: Care plan status			•	As above, every client receives assessment and care planning.	Sequencing error on form. This has been corrected.
			•	Most of the planning is done with the client and not always the carer. Goals and time limits are difficult and also discharge contact. Most clients are now asked to contact us approximately one month after discharge if necessary. If we contact them they usually say they need to come back, they miss us.	The definition of 'care plan' now states that the client should be consulted in the development of the care plan, but that that client's family/carer <i>may</i> be consulted.

Table 6 (continued): Field test stage 1. Summary of feedback on Form B – Client data

Question 14. Health condition Centes often wingle health perigras desired sorties: the release insige prodition; heart enantige prodition; appropriate for podition denses into the release insige prodition; appropriate for podition denses into the release insige prodition; appropriate for podition denses appropriate for podition dense appropriate for podition denses appropriate for podition denses appropriate for podition denses appropriate for podition denses appropriate for podition dense appropriate for appropriate for podition dense appropriate for appropriate for appropriate for appropriate appropriate appropriate affect absort appropriate for appropriate appropriate appropriate affect absort appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate affect absort appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate affect absort appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriote appropriate appropriate appropriate appropriate ap	Question	.=	Difficulty understanding the question or instructions, and related comments	Difficulty in reporting this for all clients, and related comments	Project Team response
 The list of health conditions is not appropriate for podiatry diagnoses (considering a significant portion of DTC resources are used in this area). Time consuming to list all health conditions and correlate to a code. No, except 1 did not read that this asked at first assessment. Time consuming to list all health conditions and correlate to a code. No, except 1 did not read that this asked at first assessment. Some referrals do not cover all medical past history. Some clients seeing different doctors and specialists do not cover all medical past history. Some clients seeing different doctors and specialists do not cover all medical investigation to clarify. Not extend in some situations required investigation to clarify. Not in this case, but I would have had difficulty categorising a person with a medical knowledge and in some situations required investigation to clarify. Not onde for area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where changes are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's. 	Question 14: Health condition	•	 0550 & 0560 very 'involved' disorders. Perhaps depression & anxiety could have been single problems? 	 Clients often have multiple health conditions and it isn't always easy to put them in order. 	On the revised form, this question has been changed into two separate questions, more relevant to the DTC Program. One question
Time consuming to list all health conditions and correlate to a code. No, except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. No, except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. No, except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. No, except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. No, except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. No, except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. No except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. No except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. No the time consuming. Codes based on medical knowledge and in some situations required investigation to clarify. Not in this case, but I would have had difficulty categorising a person with a neck problem. Also I cannot see any category for orthopaedic surgety, e.g. hip and knee replacement. No code for surgical interventions like total knee replacement. On code for surgical interventions like total knee replacement which would impact significantly on some people's mobility. One area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where clanages are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's.		•	 The list of health conditions is not appropriate for podiatry diagnoses (considering a significant portion of DTC resources are used in this area). 		seeks information about reason for referral, the other about health conditions treated by the DTC. This way DTCs do not need to report health conditions that are not relevant to their work with the otient. Also, where the
No, except I did not read that this asked at first assessment. Ifficulty with code list More time consuming. Codes based on medical knowledge and in some situations required investigation to clarify. Not in this case, but I would have had difficulty categorising a person with a neck propert. Also I cannot see any category for orthopaedic surgery, e.g. hip and knee replacement. No code for surgery e.g. hip and knee replacement. No code for surgery e.g. hip and knee replacement the total knee replacement the total knee replacement of mpact significantly on some people's mobility. One area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where changes are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's.		•	Time consuming to list all health conditions and correlate to a code.	Some referrals do not cover all medical past history. Some clients seeing different doctors and susciplists do not	DTC is not aware of all the conditions a person may have, it avoids the reporting of
<i>ifficulty with code list</i> More time consuming. Codes based on medical knowledge and in some situations required investigation to clarify. Not in this case, but I would have had difficulty categorising a person with a neck problem. Also I cannot see any category for orthopaedic surgery, e.g. hip and knee replacement. No code for surgical interventions like total knee replacement or hip replacement which would impact significantly on some people's mobility. One area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where changes are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's.		•	No, except I did not read that this asked at first assessment.	report adequately change in medical status.	Incomplete Information. Some podiatry-related conditions have been
More time consuming. Codes based on medical knowledge and in some situations required investigation to clarify. Not in this case, but I would have had difficulty categorising a person with a neck problem. Also I cannot see any category for othopaedic surgery, e.g. hip and knee replacement. No code for surgical interventions like total knee replacement or hip replacement which would impact significantly on some people's mobility. One area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where changes are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's.		U	Difficulty with code list		added into the code ilst, e.g. bunion, ingrowing nail, ulcer treatment.
Not in this case, but I would have had difficulty categorising a person with a neck problem. Also I cannot see any category for orthopaedic surgery, e.g. hip and knee replacement. No code for surgical interventions like total knee replacement or hip replacement which would impact significantly on some people's mobility. One area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where changes are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's.		•	More time consuming. Codes based on medical knowledge and in some situations required investigation to clarify.		The revised form now has a box for open text, so that conditions not on the code list can be reported. The Guidelines give instructions on how to report these, e.g. if the person is being
neck problem. Also I cannot see any category for orthopaedic surgery, e.g. hip and knee replacement. No code for surgical interventions like total knee replacement or hip replacement which would impact significantly on some people's mobility. One area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where changes are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's.		•	Not in this case, I difficulty categori		treated for a hip replacement or a surgical amputation.
No code for surgical interventions like total knee replacement or hip replacement which would impact significantly on some people's mobility. One area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where changes are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's.			neck problem. Also I cannot see any category for orthopaedic surgery, e.g. hip and knee replacement.		Guidelines now state that it is not important in what order conditions are reported.
One area that did not seem to be covered was cerebellar stroke where changes are different to those of heart disease and other CVA's.		•	No code for surgical interventions like total knee replacement or hip replacement which would impact significantly on some people's mobility.		
		•			It would have to be coded to the grouping 'Cerebrovascular disease' (0910). The code list is consistent with the 3-digit level of ICD- 10-AM. Recording this level of detail was not thought necessary or appropriate for this survey.

Table 6 (continued): Field test stage 1. Summary of feedback on Form B – Client data

4

Question	Dif ins	Difficulty understanding the question or instructions, and related comments	Difficulty in reporting this for all clients, & related comments	Project Team response
Question 15: Activity limitations	• • • •	Sections could have been broken down into level of assistance required. Choice to limiting as this client could dress herself but not shower, could walk but not carry anything. Could but not carry anything. Could communicate sometimes. Limited. Some clients only have one restriction in a category e.g. bathing.	 The questions are very insensitive to higher level function problems (i.e. does not consider a person who has problems cooking, cleaning etc.). Communication problems have 2 components—people with pathology and people who have problems with language. Possibly on self-care initially until client has attended the DTC on several occasions to be able to fully assess. Time consuming. 	The Guidelines document explains the reason for this question, i.e. to determine whether the person has a severe or profound activity limitation. The definition of this is that anyone who at least sometimes needs assistance with any of these activities has a severe or profound activity limitation. It has been decided that other questions about the person's activity level, e.g. domestic tasks, are not to be included in this survey. The revised form has an 'Unknown' option. The Quidelines now further define each option. The question has been changed to relate to 'at the time of the survey' instead of 'at the time of first assessment'. This means that the DTC has enough time to ascertain the answer, at least for most clients.
Question 16: 16a &a6b: Type of assistance received	•	16a: Found it difficult to know whether formal counselling/support, information & advocacy. This can be time spent informally advising of ACAS assessment/respite care/advise to carers/family regarding a broad range of topics and referring them to different areas. Nursing services is also very broad, not just dressings and blood pressure.		The Guidelines now clearly define the option advocacy'. 'Nursing services' has now also been defined in the Guidelines.
Question 17: DTC-funded services ceased			 Sorting through archive material. 	If a survey were to cover only clients attending the DTC agency during a two- or four-week period, answering this question should not require sorting through archive material.

15

Question	Dif ins	Difficulty understanding the question or instructions, and related comments	Difficu related	Difficulty in reporting this for all clients, & related comments	Project Team response
Question 18: Accommodation setting after cessation of DTC services	•	Client went from living at home to low care hostel, but still attends DTC. Had trouble determining how to report this.	• N Q	Not routinely collected but could easily be included as part of service completion plan.	This question has now been removed from the form. Another question has been added which
	•	Yes	•	Sorting through archive material.	asks for the reason why the client has ceased
	•	I suppose 'Other' can be death, hospital.	•	We do not normally ask our clients whether they own or rent their home.	to receive therapy from the DTC agency.
			• T © 0	The person I put forward did live with her family, I had no idea if it was owned or rented etc.	
			⊁ •	Yes	
Question 19: Functional status	•	The question asks about secondary reason for referral, but this has not been stated earlier in the questionnaire, therefore the information seems disjointed.	e i s s i o	Question does not allow for initial improvement then ongoing maintenance so that client remains at optimum independence choices, current living environment.	This question has been removed from the form based on comments received during the field test process and further research.
	•	Yes	• + 5 2 2 2 2	This does not cater for non referral related events e.g. acute episode, death of client or partner. After commencing and due to frailty of some clients a variety of things can change the therapy provided.	

(continued)

Question	Dif ins	Difficulty understanding the question or instructions, and related comments	Difficulty in reporting this for all clients, & related comments	Project Team response
Further comments provided on Question 19 (Functional status).	•	This may occur (your example given) but if assessment, care pla client and team goals and realistic achievements, them improven maintained so that client can remain as independent as possible.	This may occur (your example given) but if assessment, care planning and review reflect client and team goals and realistic achievements, them improvements will occur and/or be maintained so that client can remain as independent as possible.	This question has been removed from the form.
	•	Client suffering from motor neurone disease who attended and participated in most activities until she was admitted to hospital and sadly passed away. Younger client Huntington's disease, as she deteriorated, family began to use home care services.	Client suffering from motor neurone disease who attended and participated in most activities until she was admitted to hospital and sadly passed away. Younger client with Huntington's disease, as she deteriorated, family began to use home care services.	
	•	In addition to the example above, some clients may have conditions that are not es measurable. Therefore it could also be good to clarify whether the client feels their condition has improved, as opposed to the therapist's view.	example above, some clients may have conditions that are not easily refore it could also be good to clarify whether the client feels their proved, as opposed to the therapist's view.	
	•	Some medical conditions are hard to factunaturally worsen (i.e. Parkinson's disease interventions.	Some medical conditions are hard to factualise, i.e. dementia. Other medical conditions naturally worsen (i.e. Parkinson's disease) and it is therefore hard to determine success of interventions.	
	•	Many clients have long-term debilitating ill maintain them over a period of time, they due to progression of disease. Many other isolate which one is causing deterioration.	Many clients have long-term debilitating illness and although we have been able to maintain them over a period of time, they are eventually discharged in a worse condition due to progression of disease. Many other clients have multiple problems, difficult to isolate which one is causing deterioration.	
	•	'Function' is multi-factorial, e.g. possible to reduced upper limb function.	Function' is multi-factorial, e.g. possible to have improvement in balance and mobility, but reduced upper limb function.	
	•	Many of our clients are very long term and have multiple problems. Some of these on admission and due to length of stay other problems occur during the program. occasions it is difficult to isolate which problem is impacting on functional ability.	Many of our clients are very long term and have multiple problems. Some of these exist on admission and due to length of stay other problems occur during the program. On occasions it is difficult to isolate which problem is impacting on functional ability.	
	•	The frailty of clients at times does make the disease are variable in the short and long develop other ailments and therapy reaso a single word without explanation.	The frailty of clients at times does make this difficult at times. Clients with Parkinson's disease are variable in the short and long term. Clients with long term disabilities often develop other ailments and therapy reasons along the way. It would be difficult to write in a single word without explanation.	
Comments on whether the information needed about each client to complete the field test form was readily available.	•	Apart from the client ID number we don't health conditions for referrals made to the programs.	Apart from the client ID number we don't always have the level of detail in relation to health conditions for referrals made to the Successful Ageing and Community Integration programs.	
	•	Yes and no. For the recent clients who he access. For one client who had a CVA 10 and he slowly deteriorated over the years a care plan and the group occupational th at home with his wife until he died. He wa socialisation group or transport.	Yes and no. For the recent clients who had a care plan the information was easy to access. For one client who had a CVA 10 years ago, his minimal function was maintained and he slowly deteriorated over the years. the physio provided treatment, although not on a care plan and the group occupational therapy work contributed to him being able to stay at home with his wife until he died. He was wheelchair bound and not suitable for a socialisation group or transport.	

Table 6 (continued): Field test stage 1. Summary of feedback on Form B–Client data

Summary of additional comments provided by DTCs

- Look forward to further discussions.
- Due to the lack of community resources within our area, it is the belief of this agency that the withdrawal of therapy from long-term maintenance clients would result in dramatically reduced levels of independence, and possible result in the need for institutional care. Discharge from maintenance therapy programs will not be a priority for this client group.
- I would very much like the opportunity for follow-up discussion (by phone or face-toface) in January as our service is already collecting a lot of client data and has developed many proformas which may be of interest; and our service is a 'new style' innovative model which is not easily 'boxed' so it would be good to be able to discuss 'user-friendly' ways to capture relevant data.
- If this process was to be considered for all clients it would be a very costly activity and would need to be justified regarding information collected versus usefulness of same in developing future programs and funding. Not all diagnosis were included due to time and relevance.
- Expand questions on overcoming social isolation and personal development.
- Some of the problems we have: when it comes to discharge some clients are very reluctant to go. If they come in on our bus they also stay for a meal. They develop friends and don't wish to be referred to another socialisation group or are too frail to do so. The waiting lists for our local community health centre is very long, 70–170 on waiting list.

3 Consultation: stage 1

Following stage 1 of the field testing the AIHW visited and contacted most of the DTCs who participated to discuss the process and issues that arose.

Below is a summary of the issues identified and discussed during these visits and contacts.

Form A: DTC data

- **Operating (catchment) area (Question 5):** If this question requested postcodes could you supply this information? If there is no specific catchment area, could an area be determined using postcodes, based on all clients who attend the DTC?
- **Direct service delivery (Question 6):** Is it difficult to determine whether a client is a DTCfunded client? Is it difficult to separate funding sources in relation to this question about different programs? Was it difficult to determine what should be included? What about administration, is there a grey area between 'patient administration' (e.g. writing patient notes) and 'centre administration' (e.g. administering wages, organising meetings etc.), or is this clear cut? Would it be helpful if this item was more clearly defined?
- **Staffing profile (Question 9):** Would the inclusion of 'coordinator' and 'other administrative staff' categories make this question easier to answer? Would this question be easier if it asked for reporting hours instead of FTE?
- **Source of referral:** Possibility of including a question relating to the sources of referral for DTCs.

Form B: Client data

- Opportunity for general feedback from the DTC on the field test process, any general issues that need to be discussed, any questions about the project, or any suggestions on improving the form.
- For some clients one of the reasons for attending the DTC is that they get social contact/support, stimulation and pleasure from it. In the contest of the DTC Program, does your DTC consider this a valid reason for clients to continue attendance ('socialisation') and does this contribute to their ability to be independent and remain living in the community?
- How should a DTC client be defined?
- Is the information requested on this form routinely collected and documented by your DTC? If yes, was it easily accessible when completing the forms?
- Accommodation setting (Question 8c): It was reported that with the changing names of residential aged care services, it could be hard to know whether a client is in receipt of low or high level care. Is this question asked at the time of assessment? Isn't this

information needed by the DTC for funding purposes? Does your DTC recover the cost for high level care clients?

- **Care plan status (Question 13):** The Program Guidelines state that a care plan should be developed for each client. Are there any circumstances where it is not feasible to develop a care plan for a client? Would you call a treatment plan that relates specifically to a therapist's discipline also a 'care plan'?
- Health condition (Question 14): Consideration of this question being replaced by two separate questions, which could be less time consuming and will relate specifically to the reason(s) for treatment. The two separate questions being considered are: 1. Identification of the main reason for referral—is it always possible to determine the main reason?
 2. Other health conditions for which the person receives treatment at the DTC—propose five boxes and another box allowing for a condition that is not included in the code list, i.e. a box for 'open text' to allow for the recording of procedures such as hip and knee replacements and podiatry conditions that cannot be coded. Will this be a more relevant and user-friendly question?
- Activity limitations (Question 15): The inclusion of this question in the survey is to enable the identification of the number of clients with a severe or profound core activity restriction which allows comparisons to be made with other datasets (e.g. the Aged Care Assessment Program Minimum Data Set Version 2.0) and population data (e.g. the Australian Bureau of Statistics Survey of Disability, Ageing and Carers).

Consideration of making this question related to the time of the survey (instead of on the basis of the first assessment). Would this make the information more readily available, as well as relevant to the client's current needs, given that a client's first assessment may have been some time ago?

• **Functional status (Question 19):** This question will be removed from the form based on comments received from DTCs on the Feedback form and further research.

Meeting with stakeholders

In addition to these visits and contacts made with DTCs a meeting of stakeholders was conducted in February (refer to Appendix C for a list of those who attended). The purpose of this meeting was to:

- discuss the issues that arose from the field test stage 1 and subsequent follow-up consultations;
- formulate modifications and additions to the forms in response to the issues raised for the field test stage 2;
- review the scenarios drafted by the Project Team to be used in stage 2 of the field test; and
- review and provide feedback on the Guidelines document to be trialed in stage 2 of the field test.

4 Modifications and additions

Following is a summary of modifications and additions to the DTC collection that were made as a result of the field test stage 1 experience. These revisions were discussed at the meeting of stakeholders in February 2002.

Form A: DTC data

Question	Modifications and additions required
Q2 Street address of DTC	Remove this question.
Q5 Operating area	It is preferable that the area be identified using postcodes, however if this is not possible or appropriate then local government areas (LGAs) may be provided.
Q6 Direct service	Percentage ranges with tick boxes for responses.
delivery	Clarity the definition further in the Guidelines document.
Q9 Staffing profile	Further define 'administration' (client contact and non-client contact)
	Include an option to report Coordinator and Other administrative staff separately.
	Report details of average weekly hours worked by DTC funded staff.
Q10 Range of assistance	Remove 'Social support' from the list.
New question	Include a new question to identify the suburb or town in which the DTC agency is located and whether or not it is co- located with a residential aged care service. This question will allow for reporting of multiple locations (3) if DTCs provide services from more than one location.
New question	Include a new question that identifies where clients live if the DTC is co-located with a residential aged care service.
New question	Include a new question to identify the three main sources from which the DTC receives referrals.

Form B: Client data

Question	Modifications and additions required
Various questions	Include an 'Unknown' coding option where relevant and appropriate on the form.
Q1 Client ID	DTC to allocate a number for each client specifically for the purpose of the survey.
Q2 Letters of name	Include instructions for this question in the Guidelines document rather than on the form and explain this item's relevance, also explain issue of confidentiality.
Q7 Government	Correct spelling error.
pension/benefit status	Split this question into two parts: one part to identify if the person is in receipt of a government pension or benefit and the second part to identify the type of pension or benefit. If a person is not in receipt of a government pension or benefit then they can sequence past the second part of the question.
Q8 Suburb/town/locality Postcode Accommodation setting	Change the tense for these questions to be recorded at the time of the survey, i.e. in which suburb, town or locality does the person live?
Q9, 10 & 11 Carer questions	Sequence past these questions for those clients in residential aged care services and other institutional care as recorded in Accommodation setting question immediately prior to these questions.
Q 13 Care plan	Change Guidelines to say the care plan process may include family and/or carer (but not compulsory).
Q14 Health condition	Include more detailed instructions on the code list in the Guidelines document and include an alphabetic list of health conditions as an alternative code list.
	Split this question into two questions: one to identify the 'main reason for referral' and a second question to identify the health conditions (up to five) for which the client is currently receiving therapy at the DTC.
	Include open text boxes to enable the recording of procedures and other conditions that cannot be identified in the code list, e.g. hip and knee replacements and podiatry.

Q15 Activity limitations	Include podiatry conditions in the code list where possible and also provide an alphabetic code list. Define further in the Guidelines document.
	Change the tense so the question is recorded 'now', i.e. at the time of the survey.
Q16a Type of assistance	Split this question into two parts: one question to identify which types of therapy were provided to the person and whether they were provided in a group or individually; and another question to identify where the therapy were provided, i.e. centre-based (at DTC), centre-based (other than a DTC) or at the person's home.
Q18 Accommodation setting after cessation of services	Remove this question.
Q19 Functional status	Remove this question.
New question	Include a new question to identify whether the person has been formally diagnosed with dementia.
New question	Include a new question to identify why a person has ceased to receive therapy.

5 Field test stage 2

5.1 Scope

Questions

The second stage of the field test included two forms as per stage 1 of the field testing, incorporating the modifications and additions made as a result of the field test as outlined in Section 4. Refer to Appendix D for copies of the forms used. The forms were supported by the 'Draft Guidelines to the DTC Data Collection' which were developed for use in the second stage of the field test and for future use.

Day Therapy Centres

A selection of DTCs were chosen based on the following sampling criteria:

- metropolitan/non-metropolitan;
- large/small Commonwealth grant; and
- co-located with residential care facility/community-based.

Participation in the field test was voluntary. A total of 9 DTCs were included from Queensland, Western Australia and South Australia, with a reasonable range of DTCs meeting the above criteria. The one DTC included from South Australia was also involved in stage 1 of the field test. A list of the DTCs who participated in both stages of the field test is included under the Acknowledgements.

Participating DTCs individually determined the number of therapists to be involved in the field test and included a range of disciplines where possible.

Sample

The DTCS were requested to complete Form A (DTC data) in relation to their DTC and to complete Form B (Client data) for three hypothetical scenarios in order to test the consistency of interpretation and reporting of information based on a given situation and set of circumstances. A copy of these scenarios can be found in Appendix E.

5.2 Collection methods

The collection of the field test was paper-based. Participating DTCs were sent the field test material by the 22 February 2002 and were requested to complete and return the data collection forms (Forms A and B) and the feedback form by 7 March 2002. A total of eight sets

of DTC data forms and six sets of DTC client forms completed for the scenarios were returned and most of the forms were received by mid March 2002.

5.3 Results

Form A: DTC data

Information provided on Form A was entered into a spreadsheet to enable some analysis of the profile of the DTCs included in the field test.

Location of DTC (Question 4) & where DTC clients live (Question 5): One DTC reported six suburbs where their DTC agency is located and all other participating DTCs reported only one location. Of the total of 13 locations reported 10 are co-located with a residential aged care service (RACS). Of the DTCs co-located with a RACS, 6 reported that their client group receiving therapy live both in the RACS and the community and 2 reported that their client group live only in the RACS.

Operating area (Question 6): This question requested DTCs to report their operating (catchment) area in which they provide assistance to clients preferably by the use of postcodes and 7 out of the 8 DTCs who responded were able to provide postcodes.

Main sources of referral (Question 7): DTCs were requested to identify the three main sources from which they receive referrals. The most common sources of referral for the participating DTCs were General Practitioners, residential aged care services and other health or community care services.

Direct service delivery (Question 8): This question requested DTCs to estimate what percentage of their DTC funding is spent on direct service delivery to clients within the ranges provided on the form. Of the participating DTCs 3 reported 70% to 79%, 2 reported 80% to 89% and 2 reported 90% to 100%. (One DTC was unable to provided this information in the limited time.)

Staffing profile (Question 11): With the exception of 'Nurses', all of the disciplines included on the form were selected by the DTCs participating in the field test. The core elements of the staffing profile of the field test DTCs are Occupational Therapists, Physiotherapists, Podiatrists, Allied Health Assistants and Coordinators. The question also allowed for 'other' staff members to be identified and the responses provided included: Program Manager, Bus Driver, Cleaner, Domestic and Physiotherapy Aide.

Range of assistance (Question 12): Following is a summary (Table 7) of the range of assistance provided by the DTCs who responded to the field test stage 2.

Type of assistance	No. DTCs	Type of assistance	No. DTCs
Occupational therapy	7	Social work	1
Physiotherapy	8	Nursing services	0
Hydrotherapy	3	Food services	3
Speech therapy	3	Transport (to & from DTC)	5
Podiatry	7	Counselling/support, information and advocacy	3
Diversional therapy	2	Other	2
Group activities	5		

 Table 7: Number of DTCs providing a type of assistance

The type of group activities varied and included the following:

- memory improvement;
- cognitive, communication;
- physical: gross and fine motor, weights exercise program, self-help hydrotherapy, general exercise classes, walking groups;
- health education programs, stress management;
- confidence, self-esteem;
- social;
- groups targeted at people who have had a stroke, have Parkinson's;
- falls prevention, home safety

The 'other' types of assistance reported included:

- lifestyle advocacy;
- continence advisor;
- Community Integration relinking people to community activities and building of social/support networks.

Form B: Client data

The Project Team, in conjunction with those who attended the Stakeholders meeting in February 2002, completed Form B for each of three scenarios. The scenarios helped to identify areas in the Draft DTC Data Collection where variability in interpretation existed. The main purpose of using the scenarios as the basis for the second stage of the field test was to examine the extent of variability in interpretation between DTCs rather than to test for 'right' or 'wrong' answers.

Some of the key points are listed below, followed by a table summarising the results for each scenario.

Key points

- Overall, the variations in the reporting of information for the scenarios appears to be as a result of the guidelines not being referred to either at all or in sufficient detail before and whilst completing the forms.
- It appears that some DTCs had difficulty following the guidelines for the reporting of **Letters of name**, particularly how to deal with short names.
- **Carer availability:** In scenario 1, Dorothy Sims-Jones was recorded on 2 forms as having a carer, which does not fit the definition of a carer in the guidelines.
- **Health conditions:** This question had more than 3 different answers reported for each of the scenarios which indicates that this particular question is more open to differing interpretations than other questions.

Table 8: Summary of data reported Scenarios 1, 2 and 3 (codes reported by the Project Team are in bold)

	Scenario 1		Scenario 2		Scenario 3	
Question	Answers	Freq	Answers	Freq	Answers	Freq
Letters of family name	ſWI	4	RAI	9	G22	4
	IMO	~			IN2	
	IM2	~			Ű	~
Letters of first name	OR	9	D	9	N	5
					G2	-
Sex	Female	9	Male	9	Male	9
Date of birth	07081922	9	01071924	5	28031920	9
			1924	-		
Indigenous status	No (Neither Aboriginal nor Torres Strait Islander)	65	No (Neither Aboriginal nor Torres Strait Islander)	9	No (Neither Aboriginal nor Torres Strait Islander)	9
Country of birth	1101 (Australia)	9	3104 (Italy)	9	5105 (Vietnam)	9
Govt. pension/benefit status	Yes	Q	No	9	Yes	9
Type of govt. pension/benefit	Veterans' Affairs Pension	Q	Not relevant (no pension/benefit)	9	Aged Pension	5
					Blank	-
Suburb/town/locality name	Boronia	9	Northcote	9	Eastwood	9
Postcode	4707	9	3070	9	2122	9
Accommodation setting	Private residence/Private rental	4	Private residence/ Owned/purchasing	9	Residential aged care service—low level care	9
	Private rental	2				
Carer availability	Has a carer	2	Has a carer	9	Has no carer	9
	Has no carer	4				

(continued)

			•		•	
	Scenario 1		Scenario 2		Scenario 3	
Question	Answers	Freq	Answers	Freq	Answers	Freq
Carer co-residency status	Non-resident carer	7	Co-resident carer	9	Not relevant	9
	Not relevant (no carer)	4				
Relationship of carer to care recipient	Daughter	N	Wife/female partner	9	Not relevant	9
	Not relevant (no carer)	4				
Date of first assessment	10092001	9	18112001	5	15072000	9
			15112001			
Main reason for referral	Fracture at wrist & hand level (1610)	വ	Psychoses & depression/Mood affective disorders (0550)	4	Acute lower respiratory infections (1003)	9
	Other arthritis & related disorders (1302)	÷	Parkinson's disease	2		
Care plan status	Yes	9	Yes	9	Yes	9
Dementia status	No	9	No	6	No	9
Activity limitations	Self-care	-	Self-care/Mobility	5	Mobility	5
	None of the above	4	Unknown	~	Self-care/Mobility	-
	Unknown	~				
Health conditions	Fracture at wrist & hand level/ Other arthritis & related disorders	-	Psychoses & depression, Mood affective disorders Parkinson's disease/ Back problems		Left lower leg amputation (1899)	~
	Fracture at wrist & hand level/Other arthritis & related disorders/ Diabetes mellitus—Type 2	р	Psychoses & depression, Mood affective disorders/ Parkinson's disease/ Abnormalities of gait & mobility		Acute lower respiratory infections/ Abnormalities of gait & mobility	N
	Fracture at wrist & hand level/Pain	~	Psychoses & depression, Mood affective disorders/ Parkinson's disease	-	Abnormalities of gait & mobility Diabetes mellitus—Type 1/ Parkinson's disease/ Malaise & fatigue	-

Table 8 (continued): Summary of data reported Scenarios 1, 2 and 3 (codes reported by the Project Team are in bold)

Table 8 (continued): Summary of data reported Scenarios 1, 2 and 3 (codes reported by the Project Team are in bold)

	Scenario 1		Scenario 2		Scenario 3	
Question	Answers	Freq	Answers	Freq	Answers	Freq
	Fracture at wrist & hand level/ Other arthritis & related disorders/ Diabetes mellitus—Type 2/Pain	~	Parkinson's disease/ Psychoses & depression, Mood affective disorders/Abnormalities of gait & mobility/Low self-esteern (1899)	~	Diabetes mellitus—Type 1/ Abnormalities of gait & mobility/ Disorientation/ Amputation of toe/ankle/foot/lower leg (1899)	~
	Other arthritis & related disorders/ Diabetes mellitus—Type 2	-	Psychoses & depression, Mood affective disorders/ Abnormalities of gait & mobility/Parkinson's disease/ Other neurotic, stress related & somatoform disorders	-	Acute lower respiratory infections/ Amputation of toe/ankle/foot/leg/ Diabetes mellitus—Type 1	~
			Psychoses & depression, Mood affective disorders/ Parkinson's disease/ Back problems/Malaise & fatigue	~		
			Parkinson's disease/ Psychoses & depression, Mood affective disorders/Chronic lower respiratory diseases/Back problems	~		
Type of therapy/services— individual	Physio/Hydro/Podiatry		Physio/Social work	9	Podiatry	Q
	Physio/Podiatry	5				
Type of therapy/services—group	от		Counselling/support, information & advocacy	б	Physio/Hydro	9
	OT/Hydro	Ŋ	Other (Self-esteem/confidence & relaxation classes			
			ОТ	.		
			OT/Groups in self-esteem, confidence & relaxation	-		

(continued)

	Scenario 1		Scenario 2		Scenario 3	
Question	Answers	Freq	Answers	Freq	Answers	Freq
Service delivery setting	Centre-based (at DTC)	Q	Centre-based (at DTC)/Centre- based (other than a DTC)/ At the person's home	Q	Centre-based (at DTC)	Q
Type of additional service	Meals/transport	Q	Transport	ъ	None	Ŋ
			Meals/transport	~	Meals/transport (w/c)	~
Cessation of service episode status	No	Q	No	Q	No	വ
					Yes	-
Date of exit	Not relevant	9	Not relevant	9	Not relevant	5
					Blank	-
Reason for exit	Not relevant	9	Not relevant	9	Not relevant	5
					Blank	-

-
2
<u>0</u>
t Team are in bol
-=
Ŀ
ä
E
g
Ĕ
oject Te
ĕ
D
Ъ
e P
_
7
Ę.
ind 3 (codes reported by th
ē
JC
ğ
ē.
SI
le
8
્
S
q
H
, 2 ani
C.
s 1,
SO
Ξ.
Jar
enari
Scenari
d Scenari
ed Scenari
orted Scenari
ported Scenari
reported Scenari
a reported Scenari
ata reported Scenari
data reported Scenari
of data reported Scenari
v of data reported Scenari
ury of data reported Scenari
nary of data re
ummary of data re
nary of data re
nary of data re
ued): Summary of data re
ued): Summary of data re
ued): Summary of data re
ued): Summary of data re
e 8 (continued): Summary of data re
ued): Summary of data re
e 8 (continued): Summary of data re

5.4 Summary of feedback

The AIHW developed a Feedback Form for completion by each DTC participating in the field test. A copy of this form can be found in Appendix F.

A total of 8 Feedback Forms were received from the participating DTCs. The following tables summarise comments made on these forms and includes Project Team responses where appropriate.

Table 9 summarises comments on Form A relating to DTC data.

Table 10 summarise comments on Form B relating to Client data.

Question	ပိ	Comments	Project Team response
Question 6: DTC operating area	•	With the proviso that we are not area confined, in the sense that older people can access our services (and do) from outside of our region if: they are unable to access other services closer to them; they are able to get to and from our service without our assistance; and we have the service capacity to respond to the referral.	There is no intention of confining DTCs to particular areas. The information reported for this question will facilitate the analysis of service provision in relation to demographic and other characteristics of the population of a geographic area.
	•	Difficult to describe area. We accept anyone who is able to access the Therapy Centre from all surrounding areas.	
Question 8: Direct service delivery	•	Quite difficult to calculate and very time consuming.	This is acknowledged and stage 2 of the field test included the
	•	Far too time consuming, the rest of the form was easy to follow.	percentage range for responses to alleviate some of the collection burden, i.e. an approximation within a range is acceptable. This information is seen as important by the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing and supports the measurement of the efficiency of the DTC Program.
Other questions	•	Q4: we have a stand alone building and are co-located with five aged care facilities.	
	•	Q11: Staffing profile: very difficult to split staff time between direct service and coordination duties, given that several staff members (Coordinators, Assistant Coordinators & Senior Therapists) have split duties.	This is acknowledged, however the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing is interested to obtain this information in conjunction with the range of assistance provided by DTCs to provide a profile of the DTC Program.
	•	Q10 needs more space.	This will be adjusted on the form.
General comments	•	The term 'care plan' is a very medical term, usually associated with ongoing care and not reflective of the intent of rehabilitation. An alternate term for 'care planning process' would be 'assessment/planning/review process' or 'action plan' instead of 'care plan'.	The term 'care plan' is generally understood in the Program and has been defined for the purposes of the census in a way that is consistent with the DTC Program Guidelines. Any changes to the terminology would need to occur in the
	•	Q9: No person is to miss out on treatment because of inability to pay.	Program Guidelines initially.

Table 9: Field test stage 2. Summary of feedback on Form A-DTC data

33

Question	Dif	Difficulty understanding guestion or guidelines & related comments	Droiact Team response
K000101	5		
Question 2: Letters of person's name	•	Found this a bit confusing initially and easy to make errors. Please note typo in question- reference is pages 16–18 in the Guidelines, not page 15.	More guidelines will be included on the form and the typo is noted.
	•	Difficulty in Scenario 3. I think it's a matter of getting used to model, won't be difficult with practice.	The Guidelines document did include instructions on what to do in cases where
	•	Needed possible clarification in Scenario 3. Clients of Asian extraction sometimes have Family name transposed with First given name. Doubt with Family name.	there are cultural issues, these will be included on the form.
Question 7a: Government pension/benefit status Question 7b: Type of pension/benefit	•	Scenario 2 was listed as 'superannuation pension' which was confusing. It was unclear to me from the Guidelines and question as to whether superannuation is recorded as a pension benefit or not. It would be helpful to spell this out in the Guidelines, i.e. this does not include superannuation benefits.	This exclusion of superannuation benefits will be made clearer.
	•	Scenario 2 did not stipulate if private superannuation or government superannuation. I think I should have ticked the 'unknown' box.	
Question 8, 9 & 10: Suburb, postcode & accommodation setting	•	Residential high care not mentioned. We do have these clients attend service.	The therapy provided to these clients should be fully cost recovered through the RACS so are not included in the scope of the survey as per the Program Guidelines.
Question 11: Carer availability	•	This was ambiguous—had great difficulty deciding whether daughter in Scenario 1 was a carer.	Under normal circumstances i.e. 'real' clients it is expected that this information would be easier to ascertain.
Question 15: Main reason for referral	•	In Draft Guidelines 'This item also gives an understanding of how often clients continue to be treated for the condition for which they were referred'. I found this statement difficult to understand because in my experience both as a therapist and manager of a DTC. A client is sometimes referred for one condition but in fact have a myriad of other conditions/symptoms that DTC staff can address. Sometimes the cause of initial referral is treated early with good results but the client continues to attend for other problems which assist them to remain independent in their own home.	This will be acknowledged also in the section 'Why is this information important?' for both this question and the conditions the person has received therapy for (Q19).
Question 16: Care plan status	•	Prefer the term 'action plan' to 'care plan' given that we are talking about promoting independence not dependence.	The DTC Program Guidelines refer to 'care plan', so a change to the use of this term would need to made there in the first
	•	Scenario 1 did not specify physio strategies or goals—nor for occupational therapy group.	instance.

Table 10: Field test stage 2. Summary of feedback on Form B – Client data

34

(continued)

Question	D	Difficulty understanding question or guidelines & related comments	Project Team response
Question 18: Activity limitations	•	Scenario 3: unclear whether as a low level of care resident Mr Ng would need help with self-care (not specified, hence not recorded).	Under normal circumstances, i.e. 'real' clients, it is expected that this information would be easier to ascertain.
	•	Self-care Scenario 1: is she referred because she can't manage tasks with fractured wrist?	This is not stated in the scenario so it could either have been coded as 'none of the above' or 'unknown'. This should not pose a problem when dealing with 'real' clients.
	•	Information provided on help needed on assessment not at time of survey—this can be different if client has received treatment from (say) an occupational therapist to improve function.	Given that an assessment may have occurred some time ago, it was thought it preferable to ask this question at the time of the survey.
	•	Scenario 3: Client was a resident of a low care facility—more information might have been required to ascertain limitations of self-care.	Under normal circumstances, i.e. 'real' clients, it is expected that this information would be easier to ascertain.
Question 19: Health condition	•	Scenario 2: No codes for low confidence/self-esteem or for stress (interventions were developed for both of these areas, which also serve as key referral reasons for counselling along with things like grief and loss, life changes, low motivation, negative thinking etc.). This was not included in the scenarios, however peripheral neuropathy is a common condition amongst people with diabetes and peripheral vascular disease and is not included on the code list.	Scenario 2: 1 session with the social worker for depression (code 0550), group session for self-esteem/confidence & relaxation could be coded using code 1899 and specifying in text box provided. The health condition code list will be expanded to allow for coding of referral reasons for counselling & peripheral neuropathy.
	•	Scenario 3: Unable to list a health condition for podiatry intervention—not listed in scenario.	Scenario 3: The podiatry intervention was related to the diabetes (code 0402).
	•	Scenario 3: A bit confusing to determine. Was the condition for amputation or diabetes? I chose amputation as the need for strengthening and mobility, but difficult to determine on list.	The treatment received was in relation to the amputation, but the podiatry was in relation to the diabetes, so both could have been coded.
	••	Scenario 1 spoke of admission conditions but not what was being treated at survey—only what services being received. This relied on assumption that therapists are treating for various conditions.	Noted, this meant making assumptions on what conditions being treated. Under normal circumstances, i.e. 'real' clients, it is expected that this information would be easier to ascertain.

Table 10 (continued): Field test stage 2. Summary of feedback on Form B – Client data

35

Question	Dif	Difficulty understanding question or guidelines & related comments	Project Team response
Question 20a, b & c: Type of therapy/service(s) received & mode	•	What is the differentiation between social work and counselling? (social work is counselling) It was unclear to me where to record Scenario 2's confidence and self- esteem class (placed under other). Suggestion: perhaps you could add another line for health education with boxes for individual and group, with a section for discipline (e.g. social work) and area (e.g. confidence and self-esteem. Also an 'other' box to incorporate meetings in parks, coffee shops, other people's homes etc.	Counselling will be removed from the list of therapies provided. 'Other' box will be included to allow for provision of therapy in other places to be recorded.
Question 22: Reason for exit	•	This question needs a 'please specify' box for 'other'. Also, 'ill-health of client' would be a useful box addition, as we have found that it is another key reason for cessation of services.	A text box will be included to allow for the 'other' coding option to be specified. Coding explanations will also be included on the form & this will allow for the recording of the 'ill- health of clients'.
Feedback question 2.2: Difficulty with code	•	As noted above.	See Question 19: Health condition.
lists for health conditions	•	It was good to have them set out both alphabetically and grouped.	Great to have this feedback on the code lists.
Feedback question 2.3: Difficulty identifying main reason for referral for all clients	•	As already outlined key reasons for referral to social work include grief and loss (death of spouse/partner/family member, loss of pet, loss of home, relocation); low motivation/confidence/self-esteem; elder abuse. None of these are specified in the list. Also loneliness and social isolation are key issues. The list of health conditions is heavily weighted to physical conditions and underplays the importance of holistic rehabilitation and the interplay of the socio-emotional and the physical.	The health condition code list will be expanded to allow for the reporting of some of these issues.
	•	No the reason is identified.	
	•	Social considerations are not included in the code list.	
Feedback question 2.4: Guidelines clear & ease to use	•	Yes, although there are 2 sections I would like to question. Communication (p. 30)—this explanation is unclear to me, hence an eg of what is meant would be useful. Type of service (p. 32)—I'm concerned about the definition given to counselling/support, information and advocacy (i.e. 'time spent informally providing advice or counselling to the client or their carer'). Counselling is a formal activity, with its own set of ethics and accountabilities and needs to be regarded as such.	An example will be included. Counselling/support, information and advocacy will be removed from the list of therapy provided.
	•	Clear and user friendly.	

Table 10 (continued): Field test stage 2. Summary of feedback on Form **B**–Client data

36

	,		
Question	D	Difficulty understanding question or guidelines & related comments	Project Team response
Feedback question 2.5: 'Scope of survey'	•	2.2 dot point one—have clarified with the DHA the eligibility of low care residents for DTC services and had the following position endorsed. All level 8 clients are service eligible; level 5–7 residents (who do not receive RCS funding under therapy questions 19 and/or 20) are also service eligible. Those receiving RCS subsidy under questions 19 and/or 20 are not service eligible ('double dipping' issue).	This will be incorporated.
	•	Q11 on DTC data form: the hours included nursing home client hours, should I not include these?	No these hours should not be recorded as the services provided to clients receiving high level care in a RACS should be fully cost recovered from that RACS.
	•	The definitions seem to be appropriate. However, I would like to see DTC services broadened to include other disciplines such as psychology, dietetics, music therapy and massage therapy. It would also be good to provide preventive programs such as fitness programs for the elderly.	The therapies outlined are in accordance with those in the Program Guidelines. Any changes to this list would need to be done via application to the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing as outlined in the DTC Program Guidelines.
	•	Clear Guidelines for scope. DVA eligibility is a question frequently asked. Perhaps this could be added as DVA clients often expect exemption from any contribution if they have a Gold card.	Clarification for DVA clients will be included in the Guidelines.

Table 10 (continued): Field test stage 2. Summary of feedback on Form B – Client data

Summary of additional comments provided by DTCs

- Happy to discuss further the responses given and would welcome the opportunity to be further involved.
- Would it be useful to include a question on the fee waiving to ascertain how many clients of the service have fees waived? I have recently been asked to supply this data to the Department.
- To be able to find this information on a database of client information would be very useful with all the questions on the computer.
- It was quite time consuming but an interesting exercise.
- Look forward to new Guidelines for DTCs and am happy to assist with any further queries or surveys.

6 Consultation: stage 2

Following stage 2 of the field testing the AIHW contacted stakeholders who attended the February meeting and a selection of DTCs who participated to discuss the process and issues that arose.

Below is a summary of the issues identified and discussed during these contacts.

Form A: DTC data

• **Staffing profile (Question 11):** Some DTCs reported difficulty in splitting staff time as several staff members have split duties. Can this question be answered according to official hours, i.e. are these duties officially split in terms of hours?

Form B: Client data

- Suggestion made by a DTC on the inclusion of questions relating to how many clients need interpreter services while attending the DTC, how many clients have private health insurance and how many are Department of Veterans' Affairs gold card holders.
- **Type of service (Question 20):** There was concern regarding the definition given to counselling/support, information and advocacy (i.e. 'time spent informally providing advice or counselling to the client or their carer'), particularly the reference to 'informal' in relation to counselling. The view was expressed that counselling is a formal activity, with its own set of ethics and accountabilities and needs to be regarded as such.
- **Cessation of service episode status (Question 21):** Some clients cease to receive therapy but do not go off the books yet. They may be on a home program and may be called 'review phase clients' or 'inactive clients'. Usually they are asked to phone in after a period of time, e.g. 6 weeks, or they are followed up by a staff member at the DTC.

Guidelines

• Scope of the survey: Eligibility of clients living in a residential aged care service (RACS) needs to be expanded. Clients receiving low level care in a residential aged care service, but for whom the residential aged care service receives therapy funding under the Resident Classification Scale (RCS questions 19 and 20) are not DTC clients for the purposes of this survey, as for these clients the cost should be fully recovered from the RACS.

• Consideration of incorporating the specific guidelines for each question onto the forms and reducing the Guidelines document to contain background information.

7 Modifications and additions

Following is a summary of modifications and additions to the DTC collection that were made as a result of the field test stage 2 experience. These revisions will be incorporated into the final documentation for the DTC Program National Census.

Form A: DTC data

Incorporate specific guidelines for each question onto the form.

Question	Modifications and additions required
Q12 Range of assistance	Remove 'Counselling/support, information & advocacy' from the code list.
DTC ID	Include an 'Office use only' box on the form for the allocation of a DTC ID upon receipt of the forms.

Form B: Client data

Incorporate specific guidelines for each question onto the form.

Question	Modifications and additions required
Q7 Government pension/benefit status	Include more detailed clarification that those people whose only source of income is a superannuation benefit (i.e. self-funded retirees), including government superannuation pensions, should be coded as 'no' for this question.
	Include an 'Other' (please specify) coding option.
Q15 and 19 Main reason for referral/Health condition	Expand code list to allow for coding of referral reason for counselling (e.g. grief and loss, social isolation, life changes) and include peripheral neuropathy.
Q20a Type of service	Remove 'Counselling/support, information & advocacy' from the code list.
Q20b Service delivery setting	Include an 'Other' (please specify) coding option.
Q22 Reason for exit	Include a 'please specify' box for the 'Other' coding option.
DTC ID	Include an 'Office use only' box on the form for the allocation of a DTC ID upon receipt of the forms.

Guidelines

- Remove the specific guidelines for each question (i.e. 'What is the range of possible answers?' and 'Which of the possible answers should I choose?' sections) from the Guidelines document and incorporate onto the forms.
- Include information about privacy and consent issues.

8 The National DTC Census

Based on the results, feedback and consultation undertaken during the process of the field test and with the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing the AIHW Project Team has developed a set of documents for a National Census of the DTC Program. These documents include:

- Census forms: Census Form A DTC data and Census Form B Client data;
- Instruction sheet for the census;
- Guidelines to the DTC Program National Census; and
- DTC Program Data Dictionary Version 1.0.

The documents listed above provide details on the final scope of the census and the census questions, and they contain the necessary background materials such as the final Health condition and Country of birth code lists. The Guidelines document also includes a discussion of privacy issues, and the Data Dictionary provides information on national data standards, DTC draft Performance Indicators and limitations of the DTC data collection, as well as detailed definitions of all data elements and the draft Performance Indicators.

The DTC National Census aims to provide Commonwealth DTC program managers with access to data for policy and program development, strategic planning and performance monitoring against agreed outcomes. It is also designed to assist DTC agencies to provide high quality services to their clients by facilitating improved internal management and local/regional area planning and coordinated service delivery. Another important objective of the census is to facilitate consistency and comparability of DTC data with national standards and other relevant information in the health and community services field. The final census documents provide the instruments to capture the data required to achieve these objectives.

The exact timing of the first National Census is yet to be determined by the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing, but it is likely that it will be conducted towards the end of 2002.

Appendix A: Field test stage 1 Forms A and B

This form should be o	completed by each Commonwealth funded I	DTC providing therapy services.
	Field test: Form A	L .
-	ervice providers relates to the DTC funde vision of DTC-funded assistance to clier	ed organisation or organisational sub-unit nts (regardless of the level at which an
1. DTC name		
2. Street address of DTC		
	State/Territory	Postcode
3. Postal address of DTC		
	Ctata /Ta mita m r	Destanda
	State/Territory	Postcode
form.		
Position		
Phone	Fax	
e-mail		
5. Can you identify the opera clients? How has this been d neighbouring areas)?	one (e.g. based on local service	n your DTC provides assistance to networks or other DTCs in ase provide relevant postcodes, suburb names
 5. Can you identify the opera clients? How has this been d neighbouring areas)? This is the geographic area in which you and/or a map to identify your operating 6. What percentage of your D Please include wages for employees in 	Done (e.g. based on local service bur DTC provides assistance to clients. Plea area. DTC funding do you spend on dir nvolved in direct service delivery (e.g. physi	networks or other DTCs in ase provide relevant postcodes, suburb names
 5. Can you identify the opera clients? How has this been d neighbouring areas)? This is the geographic area in which yo and/or a map to identify your operating 6. What percentage of your D Please include wages for employees in purchase of aids and equipment, trave 	Done (e.g. based on local service bur DTC provides assistance to clients. Plea area. DTC funding do you spend on dir nvolved in direct service delivery (e.g. physi	networks or other DTCs in ase provide relevant postcodes, suburb names ect service delivery to clients? otherapists, allied health assistants, etc), provided to clients, cost of interpreters, etc.

Please include details of how a care plan	is developed to achieve th	l (i.e. wi ne goals	ou have in place for DTC clients. the the client and/or carer), what are the main eler recommendations for therapy & referrals, provision of for all clients.	
9. Please identify the current st				
employs three half-time physiotherapists (0.5 of a full-t pends 30% o	time loa	E) staff renumerated out of DTC funding. For exa d), the FTE is 1.5 physiotherapists. Similarly, if th r working hours on administration as a coordinat	ne DTC employs
Occupational therapist			Social worker	
Physiotherapist			Nurse	
			Administrative staff	
Speech therapist				
Podiatrist		_	Other (please specify)	
Diversional therapist				
Allied health assistant				
10. Please identify the range of	assistanc	e you	r DTC provides.	
Occupational	therapy		Social work	
Physic	therapy		Nursing services	
Hydro	therapy		Social support	
	therapy		Food services	
Speech	Podiatry	Ц	Transport (to & from DTC)	
		Ц	Counselling/support, information & advocacy	
	therapy			
			Other (please specify)	
Diversional			Other (please specify)	

				Field test:	Form	В				
1. DTC	client ID	I.								
This is the	e number a	ssigned to uniq	uely identify	each person withi	n the DT	C.				
If either of ignored w requested	f the perso hen counti letters, su	ng the position bstitute the nur	des non-alp of each cha nber '2' to re	ha characters e.g. racter. If either of ti flect missing letter s item may be used	he perso s. If eith	n's nar er of th	nes is not long e e person's name	nough to s is miss	supply the	
	2 nd ,	3 rd & 5 th letters	of Family r	name/Surname			2 nd & 3 rd lette	rs of Firs	st given nan	ne
3. What	is the p	erson's sex	?				Male		Female	Γ
4. What	is the p	erson's dat	e of birth	?			(dd/mm/yyyy)	/	/	
	-	son identify	themsel	ves as being c	of Aboı	rigina	l or Torres S	trait Is	lander	
descen Informatio	t? on about In	digenous status	should be	ves as being c collected in sufficie Aboriginal and To	nt detail	to dist	inguish between	people o	f Aboriginal :	
descen Informatio	t? on about In	digenous status	should be	collected in sufficie	nt detail	to dist	inguish between	people o e tick bot	f Aboriginal a h 'Yes' boxe No	
descen Informatio	t? on about In	digenous status	should be	collected in sufficie	nt detail	to dist	inguish between der origin, pleas	people o e tick bot Yes,	f Aboriginal : h 'Yes' boxe	
descen Informatic Torres Str 6. In wh Please se the pink c informatio Australia England	t? In about In ait Islander ich cou lect from ti ode list ar n is suppli 1101 2102	digenous status r origin. If a clie ne following list. d supply the ap ed. Italy Greece	themsel s should be ont is of both the person of the count propriate co 3104 3207	collected in sufficie Aboriginal and To born? try in which the per ode. Code 0000 wh Netherlands New Zealand	nt detail rres Stra son was en coun	to dist it Islan born c try of b 2308 1201	inguish between der origin, pleas Yes, T loes not appear i irth is not supplie Poland Malta	people o e tick bot Yes, orres Stra n this list ed or whe 3307 3105	f Aboriginal : h 'Yes' boxe No Aboriginal ait Islander :, please refe re insufficier	s.
descen Informatic Torres Str 6. In wh Please se the pink c informatio Australia England Ireland 7. Is the governm This ques reflect the Governme	t? In about In ait Islande ich cou lect from t ode list ar n is suppli 1101 2102 2201 e person ment in tion does r receipt of ent pension	digenous status r origin. If a clie ntry was the he following list. d supply the ap ed. Italy Greece Germany in receipt of the form of not assume that either a full or p n or benefit shou	themsel should be ont is of both the person of the count propriate count 3104 3207 2304 of an incco a govern the pension part Commo uld be recorr	collected in sufficie Aboriginal and To born? try in which the per ode. Code 0000 wh Netherlands	int detail rres Stra son was ien coun iwan) aymen or ben ierson's i nt pensic erment	to dist it Islan born c try of b 2308 1201 6101 t fror efit? main o on or b pensic	inguish between der origin, pleaso Yes, T loes not appear i irth is not supplie Poland Malta India n the Commo r only source of i enefit. Persons v n or benefit'. Per	people o e tick bot Yes, orres Stra n this list ed or whe 3307 3105 7103 onweal ncome. It tho do nc sons who	f Aboriginal a h 'Yes' boxe No Aboriginal ait Islander c, please refe ere insufficien t is designed t is designed ot receive a	s.

8. At the time of first assessment for this refer	al:	
a. In which suburb, town or locality did the per Locality can include a large agricultural property or Aboriginal		
h What was the postcode for the address at w	hich.	the person lived?
b. What was the postcode for the address at w Code 0000 if the person has no usual place of residence (e.g.		-
Code 9999 if the person's postcode is not known.		· · · · ·
c. In what type of accommodation did the pers	on liv	e?
Private residence—owned/purchasing		Supported community accommodation
Private residence—private rental	\square	Residential aged care service - low level care
Private residence—public rental or community housing	Π	Other institutional care
Independent living within a retirement village	F	Public place/temporary shelter
Boarding house/rooming house/private hotel	F	Other (please specify)
Short-term crisis, emergency or	\square	
transitional accommodation		
The 'private residence ' codes include private residences of a caravans, mobile homes, boats, marinas, etc. These codes di private residences. Where the person's tenure over the reside code used should reflect the type of tenure primarily associate	stingui: nce is	sh between different types of tenure associated with not clear (e.g. living rent free with friends or family), the
Private residence—owned/purchasing includes private res person or another member of their household or family (include		
Independent living unit within a retirement village includes p retirement village, irrespective of the type of tenure the person		· · ·
Short-term, crisis, emergency or transitional accommoda in response to crisis or emergency situations (e.g. night shelte between institutional-type settings and independent communit	ers, hos	tels for the homeless), or to facilitate a transition
Supported community accommodation includes communitation are provided with support in some way by staff or volunteers. group homes for people with disabilities, cluster apartments we apartments, congregate care arrangements, etc.) which may a larger-scale supported accommodation facilities providing 24-(such as hostels for people with disabilities and government-resource South Australia only)).	This ca here a or may hour su	tegory includes domestic-scale living facilities (such as support worker lives on site, community residential not have 24-hour supervision and care. It also includes pervision and support services by rostered care worker
Residential aged care servcie - low level care includes per care service (formerly nursing homes and aged care hostels) includes Indigenous Flexible Pilots. Excludes high level care in	and mu	Iti purpose services or multi purpose centres and
Other institutional care includes other institutional settings v hospitals, hospices and long-stay residential psychiatric institu Other includes all other types of settings.		rovide care and accommodation services such as
9. Does the person have a carer? A carer is someone, such as a family member, friend or neigh to the care recipient without payment other than a pension or assistance provided by another person is sufficient to identify significantly compromise the care available to the person to the	benefit them a eir det	If in doubt about whether the level and type of s a carer, if the removal of that assistance would iment, record the person as having a carer.
Has a care	r 📘	Has no carer (go to Question 14)
10. Does their carer live with them? If a client has both a co-resident (e.g. a spouse) and a non-requestion should be related to the carer who provides the most capacity to remain living in their home.		
Co-resident care	r [Non-resident carer
		_

Husband/male partner Son-in- Mother Other female relative Pather Other male relative Daughter Friend/neighbour_fem Son Friend/neighbour_fem Wife/female partner Husband/male partner Son Friend/neighbour_fem Son Friend/neighbour_fem Son Friend/neighbour_fem Wife/female partner Husband/male partner Son Friend/neighbour_fem Son Friend/neighbour_fem Son Friend/neighbour_fem Son Grade fealative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin etc. of the care of the rate and the care is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin etc. of the care referral for therapy services? This date records the initial assessment of a client in order to detemine their care needs in relation to their most re referral for DTC services. (dd/mm/yyyy)				el residential aged ca		
Mother Other female relation Mother Other male relation Father Daughter Son Friend/neighbour-fem Wife/female partner, Husband/male partner includes defacto and same sex partnerships. Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care 12. What was the date on which the person had their first assessment in relation to the care (dd/mm/yyyy) [/] Actro plan developed for the client? A care plan is defined as a personal plan that includes a statement of the client's strengths and needs, goals of ca activities/strategies to achieve the goals, recommendations for therapy and referals to other service providers, the for discharge where appropriate and time limits with the provision for review and renewal. The plan should be deve		Wife/female partner			Daughter-in-law	
Father Guidenter Father Guidenter Father Guidenter Friend/neighbour—ferr Son friend/neighbourment friend/neighbourment friend/neighbourment friend/neighbourment friend/neighbourment friend/neighbourment friend/neighbourment friedreferral for therapy services? friedreferral for therapy serv		Husband/male partner			Son-in-law	
		Mother		C	ther female relative	
Son Friend/neighbour_m Wife/female partner, Husband/male partner includes defacto and same sex partnerships. Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin etc. of the care of the current referral for therapy services? 12. What was the date on which the person had their first assessment in relation to the recommendations for the client's strengths and needs, goals of care of DTC services. (dd/mm/yyyy) ////////////////////////////////////		Father			Other male relative	
Wife/female partner, Husband/male partner includes defacto and same sex partnerships. Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandfmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the care of the care of the care of the therapy services? 12. What was the date on which the person had their first assessment in relation to the referral for therapy services? This date records the initial assessment of a client in order to detemine their care needs in relation to their most referral for DTC services. (dd/mm/yyyy) ////////////////////////////////////		Daughter		Friend	/neighbour—female	
Other female relative should be used if the carer is the grandmother, sister, niece, female cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the male relative should be used if the carer is the grandfather, brother, nephew, male cousin, etc. of the care of the current referral for therapy services? 12. What was the date on which the person had their first assessment in relation to the current referral for therapy services? This date records the initial assessment of a client in order to detemine their care needs in relation to their most referral for DTC services. (dd/mm/yyyy) ////////////////////////////////////		Son		Frier	nd/neighbour-male	
current referral for therapy services? This date records the initial assessment of a client in order to detemine their care needs in relation to their most referral for DTC services. (dd/mm/yyyy) 1.3. Was a care plan developed for the client? A care plan is defined as a personal plan that includes a statement of the client's strengths and needs, goals of car activities/strategies to achieve the goals, recommendations for therapy and refervals. The plan should be developed where appropriate and time limits with the provision for review and renewal. The plan should be developed where appropriate and time limits with the provision for review and renewal. The plan should be developed that had an impact on the person's functional ability? Please specify using gold coloured code list. Record those health conditions that are related to the person's functional ability? Please specify using gold coloured code list. Record those health conditions that are related to the person's function that is dosely related to the main reason for referral. Code 0000 when the person has no diseases or disorders diagnosed as a health concern. Code 0000 when the person has no diseases or disorders diagnosed as a health concern. 1 Identify the health condition that is most closely related to the main reason for referral. 2 5 1	r female relative should be us	sed if the carer is the grandme	other, sister,	niece, female cousir		
13. Was a care plan developed for the client? A care plan is defined as a personal plan that includes a statement of the client's strengths and needs, goals of car activities/strategies to achieve the goals, recommendations for therapy and referrals to other service providers, the for discharge where appropriate and time limits with the provision for review and renewal. The plan should be developed to the client and their family and/or carer(s) as a result of an assessment process. Yes 14. At the time of first assessment, did the person have any diagnosed diseases or distact had an impact on the person's functional ability? Please specify using gold coloured code list. Record those health conditions that are related to the person's function up to 10 health conditions may be reported. The disease or disorder listed first should be the health condition that closely related to the main reason for referral. Code 0000 when the person has no diseases or disorders diagnosed as a health concern. Code 0009 when the person's health condition is of concern but there is insufficient information to report a formal or identified sign or symptom. 1 Identify the health condition that is most closely related to the main reason for referral. 2 June 5 June 8 June 8 June 8 June 8 June 9	ent referral for therapy date records the initial assessm	services?		care needs in relation		
A care plan is defined as a personal plan that includes a statement of the client's strengths and needs, goals of care activities/strategies to achieve the goals, recommendations for therapy and referrals to other service providers, the for discharge where appropriate and time limits with the provision for review and renewal. The plan should be developed between the client and their family and/or carer(s) as a result of an assessment process. Yes 14. At the time of first assessment, did the person have any diagnosed diseases or distinat had an impact on the person's functional ability? Please specify using gold coloured code list. Record those health conditions that are related to the person's function up to 10 health conditions may be reported. The disease or disorder listed first should be the health condition that closely related to the main reason for referral. Code 0000 when the person has no diseases or disorders diagnosed as a health concern. Code 0000 when the person has no diseases or disorders diagnosed as a health concern. Code 00098 when the person has no diseases or disorders diagnosed as a health concern. 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				(aa/mm/yyyy)	1 1	
Code 0098 when the person's health condition is of concern but there is insufficient information to report a formal or identified sign or symptom. 1 Identify the health condition that is most closely related to the main reason for referral. 2 5 8		person's functional ab			seases or disorc	lers
2 5 8	se specify using gold coloured of 10 health conditions may be re- ly related to the main reason fo	eported. The disease or diso or referral.	rder listed fir	st should be the hea		
	se specify using gold coloured of 10 health conditions may be re- ly related to the main reason fo 0000 when the person has no 0098 when the person's health	eported. The disease or disor or referral. diseases or disorders diagno	rder listed fir osed as a he	st should be the heal alth concern.	th condition that is mo	ost
3 6 a	se specify using gold coloured of 10 health conditions may be re- ly related to the main reason for 20000 when the person has no 20098 when the person's health antified sign or symptom. Identify the	eported. The disease or disor or referral. diseases or disorders diagno h condition is of concern but is e health condition that is mos	rder listed fir osed as a he there is insut	st should be the heal alth concern. fficient information to	th condition that is mo	ost
	se specify using gold coloured of 10 health conditions may be re- ly related to the main reason for 0000 when the person has no 0098 when the person's health entified sign or symptom. Identify the main reason	eported. The disease or disor or referral. diseases or disorders diagno h condition is of concern but is e health condition that is mos	rder listed fir osed as a he there is insu t closely rela	st should be the heal alth concern. fficient information to	th condition that is mo	ost
4 7 10	se specify using gold coloured of 10 health conditions may be re- ly related to the main reason for 0000 when the person has no 0098 when the person's health entified sign or symptom. Identify the main reason	eported. The disease or disor or referral. diseases or disorders diagno h condition is of concern but is e health condition that is mos	rder listed fir osed as a he there is insu t closely rela	st should be the heal alth concern. fficient information to	th condition that is mo	ost
15. At the time of first assessment, in which of the following activities did the person sometimes or always need help or supervision from another person? Self-care Communication (e.g. bathing, dressing, toiletting, eating and drinking) (e.g. understanding others and making oneself understood)	se specify using gold coloured of 10 health conditions may be re- ly related to the main reason for 20000 when the person has no 20098 when the person's health antified sign or symptom. Identify the main reason 5 6 7	eported. The disease or disor or referral. diseases or disorders diagno h condition is of concern but is e health condition that is mos on for referral.	rder listed fir osed as a he there is insur t closely rela 8 9 10	st should be the heal alth concern. fficient information to ted to the	th condition that is mo	ost

							ring thei		•
episode? Please indicate whether the Multiple boxes may be ticke		s provided	individuall	y or in a group	and whe	ere the ass	istance wa	s provided	
						At the per	son's		
	Individual	Group		At the	DTC	residen	се		
Occupational therapy						므			
Physiotherapy									
Hydrotherapy									
Speech therapy									
Podiatry									
Diversional therapy									
Social work									
Counselling/support, information & advocacy				Г	٦				
Nursing services		Ē		Ē		一一			
Other (please specify)		F		Ē		Ē			
16b. In addition, did	vour centre	provide	the per	son with or	ne or b	oth of th	ne follow	vina	
services? Meals		provide	-	t to and from t				, ng	
Wears			папэры						
17. Has the person c Note that for the purposes DTC services, because the	of this form, a cli	ient who m	noves into	a high level ca	re reside			o receive No	Г
Note that for the purposes	of this form, a cli cost of this assi o question 1	ient who m istance is f 9	noves into fully covere	a high level car ed by the reside	re reside ential ag	ed care se Yes	rvice.	No	[
Note that for the purposes DTC services, because the If no, please go to	of this form, a cli cost of this assi o question 1	ient who m istance is f 9	noves into fully covere	a high level car ed by the reside	re reside ential ag ved as	ed care se Yes	rvice.	No	[
Note that for the purposes DTC services, because the If no, please go to	of this form, a cli e cost of this assi o question 1 the date on v	ient who m istance is f 9 vhich th	noves into fully covere ne perso	a high level car ed by the reside n last recei	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n	ed care se Yes [sistance nm/yyyy) [rvice.	No ne DTC? /	
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the <i>If no, please go to</i> If yes, what was the 18. In what type of an attend the DTC?	of this form, a cli cost of this assi o <i>question 1</i> the date on v ccommodati	ient who m istance is f 9 which th ion did t	noves into fully covera te perso the perso	a high level can ed by the reside n last recei on reside ir	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedia	ed care se Yes [sistance nm/yyyy) [ately aft	rvice.	No ne DTC? / ceased t	0
Note that for the purposes DTC services, because the <i>If no, please go to</i> If yes, what was t 18. In what type of a	of this form, a cli cost of this assi o <i>question 1</i> the date on v ccommodati	ient who m istance is f 9 which th ion did t	noves into fully covera te perso the perso	a high level can ed by the reside n last recei on reside ir	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedia	ed care se Yes [sistance nm/yyyy) [ately aft	rvice.	No ne DTC? / ceased t	0
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was t 18. In what type of at attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below.	of this form, a cli cost of this assi o <i>question 1</i> the date on v ccommodati	ient who m istance is f 9 which th ion did t	noves into fully covere the perso the perso	a high level can ed by the reside n last receit on reside in definition of Re	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedi esidentia	ed care se Yes [sistance nm/yyyy) [ately aft al aged care	rvice.	No ne DTC? / ceased t	0
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was t 18. In what type of an attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private	of this form, a cli e cost of this assi o question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se	ient who m istance is f 9 which th ion did t e question ned/purcha	noves into fully covera the perso the perso n 8c. For a asing	a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedi esidentia Supporte	ed care se Yes [sistance nm/yyyy) [ately aft il aged carr ed commu	e from th / er they c	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level o modation	0
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was t 18. In what type of an attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private	of this form, a cli cost of this assi o question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se e residence—owr rivate residence-	ient who m istance is f 9 which th ion did t e question ned/purcha —private r	noves into fully cover te perso t he perso n 8c. For a asing	a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedia esidentia Supporte ential age	ed care se Yes [sistance m/yyyy) [ately aft al aged car ed commu ed care se	rvice. from the from	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level o modation level care	0
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was t 18. In what type of at attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private P Private residence—pub	of this form, a cli cost of this assi o question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se e residence—owr rivate residence-	ient who m istance is i 9 which th ion did t e question ned/purcha private n munity hou	the person the person the person the person the person the person the person the person the person the person the person the person the person the person	a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedia esidentia Supporte ential age	ed care se Yes [sistancc nm/yyyy) [ately aft al aged care ed commu ed care sen d care sen	rvice. e from th / er they c e service - nity accom rvice - low l	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level of modation level care level care	0
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was to 18. In what type of an attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private P Private residence—pub Independent	of this form, a cli cost of this assi o question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se e residence—owr rivate residence- lic rental or com	ient who m istance is f 9 which th ion did t re question ned/purcha —private r munity hou tirement vi	noves into fully covers the perso the perso asing [using [using [illage [a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/m mmedi esidentia Support ential age ntial age	ed care se Yes [sistance nm/yyyy) [ately aft ately aft al aged care ed commu ed care sen d care sen Ot	rvice. e from th / er they c e service - nity accom rvice - low l vice - high l	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level of modation level care level care onal care	0
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was to 18. In what type of an attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private P Private residence—pub Independent Boarding hou	of this form, a cli e cost of this assi to question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se e residence—owr rivate residence- lic rental or comu living within a ref	ient who m istance is f 9 which th ion did t e question med/purcha —private r munity hou tirement vi se/private emergenc	noves into fully covers a perso the perso the perso asing [rental [using [illage [hotel [cy or [a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/m mmedi esidentia Support ential age ntial age	ed care se Yes [sistance nm/yyyy) [ately aft ately aft al aged care ed commu ed care sen d care sen Ot	rvice. from the from	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level of modation level care level care onal care	0
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was to 18. In what type of an attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private P Private residence—pub Independent Boarding hou	of this form, a cli e cost of this assi o question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se e residence—own rivate residence- lic rental or comu living within a rel use/rooming hous Short-term crisis, transitional a rvcie - high leve y nursing homes	ient who m istance is i 9 which th ion did t e question med/purcha —private r munity hou tirement vi se/private emergenc accommod el care inc	noves into fully covera te perso the perso the perso asing [asing [using [using [using [tillage [hotel [cy or [lation cludes period	a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re Reside Resider	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedia esidential Supporte ential age ntial age	ed care se Yes (sistance um/yyyy) (ately aft ately aft al aged care ed commu ed care se d care se ot Public plac	rvice. e from the / er they of e service - nity accom rvice - low l vice - high l her instituti ce/tempora evel care in	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level of modation level care onal care ry shelter Other a resident	o care [[[[[
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was to 18. In what type of an attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private P Private residence—pub Independent Boarding hou S Residential aged care ser aged care service (formerly includes Indigenous Flexibl 19. Please indicate w	of this form, a cli e cost of this assi o question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se e residence—owr rivate residence- lic rental or comm living within a rel ise/rooming hous Short-term crisis, transitional a rvcie - high leve r nursing homes le Pilots.	ient who m istance is i g which th ion did t e question ned/purcha —private r munity hou tirement vi se/private emergenc accommod s/ care inc and aged	the perso the perso the perso asing rental using hotel cy or care hoste s function	a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re Reside Resider manent resider els) and multi p	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedi. esidentia Support ential age ntial age ntial age	ed care se Yes [sistancc am/yyyy) [ately aft ately aft al aged care ed commu ed care ser Ot Public plac ving high le ervices or en main	e from the f	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level of modation level care level care onal care ry shelter Other a resident see centres	p care, [[[[[]]]]]]]]]]]]]]
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was to 18. In what type of an attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private P Private residence—pub Independent Boarding hou S Residential aged care ser aged care service (formerly includes Indigenous Flexibl 19. Please indicate w worsened since thei	of this form, a cli e cost of this assi of question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se e residence—owr rivate residence- lic rental or comm living within a ref ise/rooming hous Short-term crisis, transitional a rvcie - high leve y nursing homes le Pilots.	ient who m istance is i g which th ion did t e question ned/purcha —private r munity hou tirement vi se/private emergenc accommod s/ care inc and aged	the perso the perso the perso asing rental using hotel cy or care hoste s function	a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re Reside Resider manent resider els) and multi p	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedi. esidentia Support ential age ntial age ntial age	ed care se Yes [sistancc am/yyyy) [ately aft ately aft al aged care ed commu ed care ser Ot Public plac ving high le ervices or en main	e from the f	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level of modation level care level care onal care ry shelter Other a resident see centres	p care, [[[[[]]]]]]]]]]]]]]
Note that for the purposes of DTC services, because the If no, please go to If yes, what was to 18. In what type of an attend the DTC? For a definition of each cate please see below. Private P Private residence—pub Independent Boarding hou S Residential aged care ser aged care service (formerly includes Indigenous Flexibl 19. Please indicate w	of this form, a cli e cost of this assi of question 1 the date on v ccommodati egory, please se e residence—owr rivate residence- lic rental or comm living within a ref ise/rooming hous Short-term crisis, transitional a rvcie - high leve y nursing homes le Pilots.	ient who m istance is i g which th ion did t e question med/purcha —private n munity hou tirement vi se/private emergence accommod el care inc and aged operson's sment fo	the perso the perso the perso asing rental using hotel cy or care hoste s function	a high level can ed by the reside n last receir on reside ir definition of Re Reside Reside and multi p manent resider enal ability l urrent referr	re reside ential ag ved as (dd/n mmedi. esidentia Support ential age ntial age ntial age	ed care se Yes [sistancc am/yyyy) [ately aft ately aft al aged care ed commu ed care ser Ot Public plac ving high le ervices or en main	e from the f	No ne DTC? / ceased t high level of modation level care level care onal care ry shelter Other a resident see centres	p care, [[[[[]]]]]]]]]]]]]]

Thank you for your time and help completing this form. Your feedback on the form would be greatly appreciated.

Appendix B: Field test stage 1 Feedback Form



Day Therapy Centre Program Data Development Field Test

DTC FEEDBACK FORM

This form is to provide feedback on the DTC field test.

To be returned by 14 December 2001 to: Melinda Petrie Community Care & Community Health Unit Australian Institute of Health and Welfare GPO Box 570 Canberra ACT 2601 Fax: 02 6244 1166

1. FIELD TEST QUESTIONS: FORM A—DTC DATA

1.1 Please state whether you had difficulty reporting the information requested on Form A. If the answer is yes, please provide comments.

If insufficient space provided, please attach additional comments.

	Did you have any difficulty reporting this information?
	YES/NO
Question 6	
Direct service	
delivery	
	YES/NO
Other questions on form A	
	d any further comments you'd like to make which reflect your experience in g field test form A.

2. FIELD TEST QUESTIONS: FORM B—CLIENT DATA

2.1 The following table lists the questions in the field test, and asks whether you had difficulties understanding the question & guidelines, and whether or not you would have difficulty reporting this information for all clients. If the answer is yes to either question, please provide comments.

If insufficient space provided, please attach additional comments.

	Did you have difficulty understanding the question or guidelines?	Would you have any difficulty reporting this information for all clients?
Question 1	YES/NO	YES/NO
DTC client ID		
	YES/NO	YES/NO
Question 2		
Letters of person's name		
Question 3	YES/NO	YES/NO
Sex		
Question 4	YES/NO	YES/NO
Date of birth		
Question 5	YES/NO	YES/NO
Indigenous status		

	Did you have difficulty understanding the question or guidelines?	Would you have any difficulty reporting this information for all clients?
Question 6	YES/NO	YES/NO
Country of birth		
Question 7	YES/NO	YES/NO
Government pension/benefit status		
Question 8a, b and c	YES/NO	
Suburb, postcode and accommodation setting		
Question 9	YES/NO	YES/NO
Carer availability		
Question 10	YES/NO	YES/NO
Carer co- residency status		
Question 11	YES/NO	YES/NO
Relationship of carer to care recipient		

	Did you have difficulty understanding the question or guidelines?	Would you have any difficulty reporting this information for all clients?
Q estion 12	YES/NO	. YES/NO
Date of initial assessment		
Question 13	YES/NO	. YES/NO
Care plan status		
Question 14	YES/NO	. YES/NO
Health condition		
Question 15	YES/NO	YES/NO
Activity limitations		
Question 16a & b	YES/NO	. YES/NO
Type of assistance received		
Question 17	YES/NO	. YES/NO
DTC funded services ceased		

	Did you have difficulty understanding the question or guidelines?	Would you have any difficulty reporting this information for all clients?
Question 18		YES/NO
Accommodation		
setting after cessation of DTC services		
Question 19		YES/NO
Functional status		

2.2 Did you have any difficulty using the code list for health conditions (Question 14)?

YES / NO

If yes, please outline the difficulties you encountered.
2.3 Does your DTC ever treat any clients for whom you would not be able to determine whether the person's functional ability had improved, worsened or been maintained (question 19)? For example, clients who have been referred for several reasons and who have improved in some areas but deteriorated in others.
YES / NO
If yes, please explain further.

2.4 Was the information needed about each client to complete the field test form readily available?

YES / NO
If no, please outline the reasons why.

1.5 Please add any further comments you'd like to make which reflect your experience in
completing the field test form.

1.6 Please indicate your availability for follow up discussion during January 2002.

(We hope to contact all participating DTCs to ask further questions and to discuss your comments where necessary, either by telephone and/or during face-to-face visits.) Please tick the dates on which a representative from your DTC will be available.

	Mon	Tues	Wed	Thurs	Fri
Jan 14 to 19					
Jan 21 to 25					
Jan 28 to Feb 1					

Thank you for participating in the field test and providing feedback.

Appendix C: Stakeholders meeting attendees

Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing (Central Office)

John Liddall Rick Donnelly Fiona Herndl

Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing (South Australia)

Lynn Bushby

Moorfields Community Rehabilitation Services

Hugh Stern

Resthaven Southern Therapy Services

Penny Loughhead

McQuoin Park Nursing Home Day Therapy Centre

Anne Bruce

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare

Trish Ryan Mieke Van Doeland Melinda Petrie

Appendix D: Field test stage 2 Forms A and B

	Field test: Form A - DTC	 data DTC agency providing therapy servic
	uidelines for further information	
1. DTC agency name		
2. Postal address of DTC agend	ÿ	
	-	
	State/Territory	Postcode
3. Please record the contact de	tails for a person we can con	tact if we have any queries about t
survey forms.	····	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
Name	Position	
Phone	Fax	
e-mail		
4. Please specify the suburb or		
If you provide services from more than 1 l please attach a list.	ocation, please provide the suburb or t	own for each location. If more than 3 locations
	Co	-located with residential aged care service
		/es No
		/es No
	Y	/es No
5. If your DTC agency is co-loca	ated with a residential aged c	are service, do your DTC clients liv
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
at that residential aged care service	in the commu	nity both
	(or catchment) area in which	your DTC agency provides
6. Please identity the operating assistance to clients. Please refer to page 11 in the Guidelines.	If more space is required, please attac	ch a list.
assistance to clients.	If more space is required, please attac	ch a list.
assistance to clients.	If more space is required, please attac	ch a list.
assistance to clients.	If more space is required, please attac	ch a list.
assistance to clients. Please refer to page 11 in the Guidelines.		
assistance to clients.	n sources from which your D	TC agency receives referrals.
Assistance to clients. Please refer to page 11 in the Guidelines. 7. Please indicate the three mai	n sources from which your D r of priority, with '1' being the most com	TC agency receives referrals.
assistance to clients. Please refer to page 11 in the Guidelines. 7. Please indicate the three main please list the three main sources in order GP	n sources from which your D r of priority, with '1' being the most com	TC agency receives referrals. mon source.
assistance to clients. Please refer to page 11 in the Guidelines. 7. Please indicate the three main Please list the three main sources in order GP Residential Aged Care Service	n sources from which your D r of priority, with '1' being the most com	TC agency receives referrals. mon source. th or community care service
assistance to clients. Please refer to page 11 in the Guidelines. 7. Please indicate the three main please list the three main sources in order GP	n sources from which your D r of priority, with '1' being the most com	TC agency receives referrals. mon source.

Please refer to page 12 in the Guidelines.	Please tick one box only. 70-79%	0%
	regime you have in place for DTC services.	
Please refer to page 13 of the Guidelines.		
10 Please describe the care planni	ng process you have in place for DTC clients.	
Please refer to page 13 in the Guidelines.	ng process you have in place for DTC clients.	
11. Please identify the current staff	ing profile of your DTC agency.	
Please refer to page 13 in the Guidelines. Hou	ire	Hours
Occupational therapist(s)	Social worker(s)	
Physiotherapist(s)	Nurse(s)	
	Coordinator	
Speech therapist(s)	Coordinator	
Podiatrist(s)	Other administrative staff	
Diversional therapist(s)	Other (please specify)	
Allied health assistant(s)		
Allied health assistant(s)		
	nce your DTC agency currently provides	
12. Please tick the range of assista	nce your DTC agency currently provides.	
12. Please tick the range of assistan Occupational thera	apy Social work	
12. Please tick the range of assistan Occupational thera Physiothera	apy Social work apy Nursing services	
12. Please tick the range of assistan Occupational thera Physiothera Hydrothera	apy Social work apy Nursing services apy Food services	
12. Please tick the range of assistan Occupational thera Physiothera Hydrothera Speech thera	apy Social work apy Nursing services apy Food services apy Transport (to & from DTC)	
12. Please tick the range of assistan Occupational thera Physiothera Hydrothera Speech thera Podia	apy Social work apy Nursing services apy Food services apy Transport (to & from DTC) atry Counselling/support, information & advocacy	
12. Please tick the range of assistan Occupational thera Physiothera Hydrothera Speech thera Podia Diversional thera	apy Social work apy Nursing services apy Food services apy Transport (to & from DTC) ttry Counselling/support, information & advocacy apy Other (please specify)	
12. Please tick the range of assistan Occupational thera Physiothera Hydrothera Speech thera Podia	apy Social work apy Nursing services apy Food services apy Transport (to & from DTC) ttry Counselling/support, information & advocacy apy Other (please specify)	
12. Please tick the range of assistan Occupational thera Physiothera Hydrothera Speech thera Podia Diversional thera	apy Social work apy Nursing services apy Food services apy Transport (to & from DTC) ttry Counselling/support, information & advocacy apy Other (please specify)	

Your feedback on the form & guidelines would be greatly appreciated.

Thankyou!

	This form should be co	test: Form B - C	ts described	d in the scena		
		delines for further informatio	on in relation	n to each que	suon.	
	DTC Name					
1. DTC client ID)					
		icters or their name is not lo	ong enough	to supply the	requested letters,	
2 nd ,	, 3 rd & 5 th letters of Family	name/Surname		2 nd & 3 rd letter	rs of First given na	me
3. What is the p	person's sex? Plea	ase tick one box only.		Male	Female	Ľ
4. What is the p	erson's date of birt	h?		d a		у у у у
				Yes, To	Yes, Aboriginal orres Strait Islander	
	ntry was the person				orres Strait Islander Unknown	
Please select from t	he following list. If the cour	born? ntry in which the person was supply the appropriate coc		s not appear ir	orres Strait Islander Unknown	fer to
Please select from t	he following list. If the cour	ntry in which the person wa		s not appear ir	orres Strait Islander Unknown	fer to
Please select from t	he following list. If the cour	ntry in which the person wa		s not appear ir	orres Strait Islander Unknown	fer to
Please select from t the code list on page Australia 1101 England 2102 Ireland 2201 7a. Is the perso	he following list. If the court e 36 in the Guidelines and Italy 3104 Greece 3207 Germany 2304	ntry in which the person was supply the appropriate coor Netherlands New Zealand China (excl. Taiwan)	2308 2208 1201 6101 ent from	s not appear ir 00 when coun Poland Malta India	n this list, please ref try of birth is unknov 3307 3105 7103	fer to
Please select from t the code list on page Australia 1101 England 2102 Ireland 2201 7a. Is the perso government in	he following list. If the court e 36 in the Guidelines and Italy 3104 Greece 3207 Germany 2304	ntry in which the person was supply the appropriate coordinate coo	2308 2208 1201 6101 ent from	s not appear ir 00 when coun Poland Malta India	n this list, please ref try of birth is unknov 3307 3105 7103	fer to
Please select from t the code list on page Australia 1101 England 2102 Ireland 2201 7a. Is the perso government in	he following list. If the could a 36 in the Guidelines and litaly 3104 Greece 3207 Germany 2304 on in receipt of an in the form of a govern	ntry in which the person was supply the appropriate coordinate coo	2308 2208 1201 6101 ent from	s not appear ir 00 when coun Poland Malta India	n this list, please ref try of birth is unknov 3307 3105 7103	fer to
Please select from t the code list on page Australia 1101 England 2102 Ireland 2201 7a. Is the perso government in Please refer to page Yes No	he following list. If the could a 36 in the Guidelines and Greece 3207 Germany 2304 on in receipt of an in the form of a govern 20 in the Guidelines for fu	ntry in which the person was supply the appropriate coord of the approp	2308 1201 6101 ent from	s not appear in 00 when coun Poland Malta India the Comm	n this list, please ref try of birth is unknown 3307 3105 7103	ier to wn.
Please select from t the code list on page Australia 1101 England 2102 Ireland 2201 7a. Is the perso government in Please refer to page Yes No	he following list. If the could a 36 in the Guidelines and Greece 3207 Germany 2304 on in receipt of an in the form of a govern 20 in the Guidelines for fu	ntry in which the person was supply the appropriate coordinate coo	2308 1201 6101 ent from	s not appear in 00 when coun Poland Malta India the Comm	n this list, please ref try of birth is unknown 3307 3105 7103	ier to wn.
Please select from t the code list on page Australia 1101 England 2102 Ireland 2201 7a. Is the perso government in Please refer to page Yes No Unknown 7b. If yes, pleas Please tick one box	he following list. If the could a 36 in the Guidelines and Greece 3207 Germany 2304 on in receipt of an in the form of a govern 20 in the Guidelines for fu	ntry in which the person was supply the appropriate coord of the approp	2308 1201 6101 ent from enefit?	s not appear in 00 when coun Poland Malta India the Comm	n this list, please ref try of birth is unknown 3307 3105 7103	ier to wn.
Please select from t the code list on page Australia 1101 England 2102 Ireland 2201 7a. Is the perso government in Please refer to page Yes No Unknown 7b. If yes, pleas Please tick one box	he following list. If the could a 36 in the Guidelines and Greece 3207 Germany 2304 on in receipt of an in the form of a govern 20 in the Guidelines for fu Go to question 8 Go to question 8 Ge specify the type of only.	ntry in which the person was supply the appropriate coordinate coo	ent from ent from enefit?	s not appear in 00 when coun Poland Malta India the Comm	n this list, please ref try of birth is unknown 3307 3105 7103	ier to wn.

8. In which suburb, town or locality does the per-	son live?
9. What is the postcode for the address at which	the person lives?
10. In what type of accommodation does the per Please refer to page 23 in the Guidelines for definitions of each of	
Private residence Please specify tenure: Private rental Private rental Public rental or community housing Unknown Independent living within a retirement village Boarding house/rooming house/private hotel Short-term crisis, emergency or transitional accommodation Supported community accommodation Residential aged care service - low level care Other institutional care Public place/temporary shelter Other (please specify)	Go to Question 14
Unknown 11. Does the person have a carer? Please refer to page 24 in the Guidelines for the defintion of a ca Has a carer	rer. Tick one box only.
Has no carer Go to Question 14 Unknown	
12. Does their carer live with them? Please refer to page 25 in the Guidelines for instructions on how	to identify the most significant carer. Tick one box only.
Co-resident carer	
13. What is the relationship of the carer to the per Please tick one box only.	rson?
Wife/female partner Husband/male partner Mother Father Daughter	Son-in-law Other female relative Other male relative Friend/neighbour—female Friend/neighbour—male Unknown

current referral f	date on which the person or therapy/services?	had their first assessment in relation to their $ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	main reason for referral? ructions and code list in the Guideli specify the condition:	ines, pages 27 and 43.
-	an developed for the personant of the for the personant of a definition of a definition of the fourth of the fourthom of the fourth of the fou	
Please refer to page 2 Yes No No) in the Guidelines. Tick one box or	·
sometimes or alv	vays need help or supervis	ne following activities does the person sion from another person? f each category. e boxes may be ticked.
the most recent f	wo weeks.	ch the person has received therapy/services durin ines, pages 30 and 43. If code 1899 is used, please specify the
1 2 3		

further instructions. Multi									
	Indi	ividual	Group						
Occupational therapy									
Physiotherapy									
Hydrotherapy									
Speech therapy									
Podiatry									
Diversional therapy									
Social work									
Counselling/support, information & advocacy									
Nursing services									
Other (please specify)									
				I					
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other thar	n a DTC)			e categories. Mu t the person's ho	ome				
Centre-based (at DTC)		DTC age	A	t the person's ho	L	 ne o	r both of th	ie followir	ıg
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than		DTC age	A ncy provide	t the person's ho	with o	ne o	r both of th	e followir	ıg
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other thar 20c. In addition, di	d your l Meals		A ncy provide Transport to	t the person's ho the person and from the D	with o			e followir	ıg
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dis services?	d your l Meals	ed to rec	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu	t the person's ho the person and from the D	with o			ie followir	ıg
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dis services? 21a. Has the perso	d your l Meals	ed to rec	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu	t the person's ho the person and from the D ⁻ nded therap	with o		, If no, there a		_
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dis services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we	d your I Meals In cease In the Guid Yes	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only.	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap	with o тс [y/servi № [cesí	If no, there a questions to	are no more o be answer	ed -
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dis services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i	d your I Meals In cease In the Guid Yes	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only.	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap	with o тс [y/servi № [cesí	If no, there a questions to	are no more o be answer	ed -
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dis services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we	d your I Meals In cease In the Guid Yes	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only.	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap	with o тс [y/servi № [cesí	If no, there a questions to apy/service	are no more o be answer es from th	ed -
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dis services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we	d your I Meals n cease n the Guid Yes as the c	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only. which the pe	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap	with o TC [y/servi No [ceived	 ther	If no, there a questions to apy/service	are no more o be answer es from th m y y	ed - e y y
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dir services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we DTC agency? 22. What was the m DTC agency?	d your I Meals n cease n the Guid Yes as the c	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only. which the pe	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap	with o TC [y/servi No [ceived	 ther	If no, there a questions to apy/service	are no more o be answer es from th m y y	ed - e y y
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dis services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we DTC agency? 22. What was the n	d your I Meals n cease n the Guid Yes as the c	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only. which the pe	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap	with o TC [y/servi No [ceived eceive	cesî ther	If no, there a questions to apy/service d d m apy/service	are no more o be answer es from th m y y es from th	ed - e y y
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dir services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we DTC agency? 22. What was the m DTC agency?	d your I Meals n cease n the Guid Yes as the c	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only. which the pe	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap rson last red ceased to r	with o TC [y/servi No [ceived eceive o longer	ces? ther ther	If no, there a questions to apy/service d d m apy/service	are no more o be answer es from th m y y es from th	ed - e y y
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dir services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we DTC agency? 22. What was the m DTC agency?	d your I Meals n cease n the Guid Yes as the c	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only. which the pe	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap rson last red ceased to r	with o TC [y/servi No [ceived eceive o longer	ces? ther ther	If no, there a questions to apy/service d d m apy/service assistance fro or moved to o	are no more o be answer es from th m y y es from th om the DTC ther agency	ed - e y y
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dir services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we DTC agency? 22. What was the m DTC agency?	d your I Meals n cease n the Guid Yes as the c	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only. which the pe	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap rson last red ceased to r	with o TC [y/servi No [ceived eceive o longer	ces? ther ther	If no, there a questions to apy/service d d m apy/service	are no more o be answer es from th m y y es from th om the DTC ther agency d out of area	ed - e y y
Centre-based (at DTC) Centre-based (other than 20c. In addition, dir services? 21a. Has the perso Please refer to page 33 i 21b. If yes, what we DTC agency? 22. What was the m DTC agency?	d your I Meals n cease n the Guid Yes as the c	ed to rec delines. Tic	A ncy provide Transport to eive DTC fu k one box only. which the pe	t the person's ho the person and from the D ^T nded therap rson last red ceased to r	with o TC [y/servi No [ceived eceive o longer	ces? ther ther	If no, there a questions to apy/service d d m apy/service assistance fro or moved to o	are no more o be answer es from th m y y es from th om the DTC ther agency d out of area Client died	ed - e y y

Appendix E: Scenarios

Scenario 1

Dorothy Sims-Jones (known as Dot to her family and friends) lives at 8 Russell Street, Boronia, 4707, Queensland. Boronia is a small rural town near Rockhampton, with a population of less than 10,000.

Dot is now 79 years old, and was born on 7 August 1922, in Brisbane. She is Australian-born, of British descent. She was married to Peter Jones, a war veteran, for 42 years until he passed away 10 years ago. Dot lives alone with her dog, Emma, in a small house in Boronia. She rents privately and receives a service pension from DVA.

Dot has one daughter named Meg who lives in Rockhampton and visits Dot most months, and phones weekly. Dot has Type II diabetes, and takes regular medication in the form of pills three times a day. She also has osteoarthritis in the hips, which causes her pain and stiffness. However, she still walks well and was able to do the housework and her own shopping until she tripped on a step near the shopping centre and broke her wrist. After returning home from hospital Dot's GP refers her to the DTC for treatment of her arm and wrist, and also with the aim of achieving some relief from the pain in her hips, especially the right one.

Dot attends the DTC for the first time on 10 September 2001. She is assessed and a personal care plan is developed within a couple of days, in conjunction with Dot, her daughter Meg and Dot's GP. The care plan includes:

- Individual physiotherapy at the DTC initially 3x/week, reducing to twice a week after 4 weeks
- Group occupational therapy at the DTC 2x/week
- Individual podiatry at the DTC once every 3 months to protect against the development of diabetes-related problems.

After 4 weeks the care plan is reviewed, and group hydrotherapy at the DTC is added to Dot's program at 1x/week for 6 months.

The DTC bus picks her up on the days when she attends for treatment, and drops her back afterwards. On those days she also joins in for a meal at the DTC.

When the DTC survey is held Dot has been attending the DTC for approximately 8 weeks. During the 2 week period of the survey Dot attended the DTC for:

- 4 individual physiotherapy sessions
- 4 group occupational therapy sessions
- 2 group hydrotherapy sessions
- 1 individual podiatry session

Scenario 2

Giuseppe Grasigli and his wife, Anna, live at 21 Waterloo Street, Northcote, Melbourne 3070. They are members of a large Italian community in the area. Giuseppe arrived in Australia from Italy where he was born, in 1952 at the age of 28 (he is not sure of his exact date of birth, but was born in the year 1924). Anna joined him the following year. Giuseppe and Anna purchased their home in Northcote in 1960. Their source of income is Giuseppe's superannuation pension. Their four adult children have regular contact with them and visit when they are able to.

Giuseppe has several health conditions, including Parkinson's disease, emphysema and back problems. He also suffers from heartburn and has poor vision. Giuseppe's health has declined in the last 6 months due to the progression of his Parkinson's disease. He has been getting quite depressed lately, and has a lot of trouble coming to terms with his physical deterioration. He requires Anna's assistance and a walking frame to move around the house, and is largely confined indoors. He also requires assistance with toiletting and getting in and out of bed and chairs.

Giuseppe was referred to the DTC by his GP, Dr Jean Thomson, on 15 November 2001. Dr Thomson felt that he might benefit from seeing a social worker in relation to his depression, and that, due to his advancing Parkinson's disease, assessment of his home environment by an occupational therapist would be desirable. The DTC assesses Giuseppe on 18 November and, together with Anna and his GP, the following care plan is developed:

- The social worker is to visit Giuseppe and Anna at their home, with probable follow-up counselling sessions for his depression, initially at home but later individual sessions with Giuseppe at the DTC.
- Assessment of the home situation to be carried out by the occupational therapist, followed by likely home modifications.
- A course of individual physiotherapy 1x/week at the DTC for 16 weeks to help with strengthening, mobility and coordination.
- Attendance of 1x/week group sessions which deal with self-esteem/confidence and relaxation, run by the DTC at the local community health centre.
- Transport to and from the DTC will also be provided.

When the DTC survey is held Guiseppe has been attending the DTC for 2 weeks. During the 2 week period of the survey Giuseppe had:

- 1 session with the social worker at home.
- 2 individual physiotherapy sessions at the DTC.
- 1 group session addressing self-esteem/confidence and relaxation at the community health centre.

Scenario 3

Lin Ng and his wife Kim live in Southhaven Lodge which is a residential aged care facility in Eastwood, Sydney 2122. They are aged pensioners and moved into Southhaven Lodge five years ago. They both receive low level care. Lin is 81 years old and was born in Vietnam on 28 March 1920. He had a left lower leg amputation due to insulin dependent diabetes six years ago. He walks with a prosthesis, but uses a wheelchair some of the time. His wife is able to push the wheelchair within the lodge, but for trips outside the building staff or other family is needed.

Lin first attended the DTC, which is next door to Southhaven Lodge, on 15 July 2000 when he was referred by his GP for chest physiotherapy for acute bronchitis. During his initial assessment he was assessed and a personal care plan developed. The care plan included:

- Chest physiotherapy 3x/week until the bronchitis is resolved.
- Medium to long term treatment aimed at strengthening balance and mobility.

When the DTC survey is held Lin has been attending the DTC for approximately one and a half years. During the two weeks prior to the survey Lin attended the DTC for:

- 2 group hydrotherapy sessions
- 4 group physiotherapy exercise sessions
- 1 individual podiatry session

As a result of attending the exercise sessions over the course of slightly more than a year, Lin's balance has improved and he is more confident when getting around. However, he has become very forgetful and at times confused. The DTC staff think that Lin is suffering from dementia. They have discussed this with Lin's wife and are planning to contact his GP about it.

Appendix F: Field test stage 2 Feedback Form



Day Therapy Centre Program Data Development Field Test Stage 2

DTC FEEDBACK FORM

This form is to provide feedback on the DTC Field Test Stage 2

To be returned by 7 March 2002 to: Melinda Petrie Community Care & Community Health Unit Australian Institute of Health and Welfare GPO Box 570 Canberra ACT 2601 Fax: 02 6244 1166

FIELD TEST QUESTIONS: FORM A-DTC DATA 1.

1.1. Please state whether you had difficulty reporting the information requested on Form A. If the answer is yes, please provide comments.

If insufficient space provided, please attach additional comments.

	Did you have any difficulty reporting this information and/or understanding the guidelines?
Question 6	YES/NO
DTC operating area	
Question 8	YES/NO
Direct service delivery	
	YES/NO
Other questions on form A	

1.2 Please add any further comments you'd like to make which reflect your experience in completing field test form A.

.....

2. FIELD TEST QUESTIONS: FORM B—CLIENT DATA

2.1 The following table lists the questions in the field test, and asks whether you had difficulties understanding the question and/or the guidelines. If the answer is yes, please provide comments.

	Did you have difficulty understanding the question or guidelines?
Question 1	YES/NO
DTC client ID	
Question 2	YES/NO
Letters of person's name	
Question 3	YES/NO
Sex	
Question 4	YES/NO
Date of birth	
Question 5	YES/NO
Indigenous status	
Question 6	YES/NO
Country of birth	

If insufficient space provided, please attach additional comments.

Did you have difficulty understanding the question or guidelines?

Question 7a	YES/NO
Government pension/benefit status	
Question 7b	YES/NO
Type of pension/benefit	
Question 8, 9 & 10	YES/NO
Suburb, postcode and accommodation setting	
Question 11	YES/NO
Carer availability	
Question 12	YES/NO
Carer co- residency status	
Question 13	YES/NO
Relationship of carer to care recipient	
Question 14	YES/NO
Date of initial assessment	
Question 15	YES/NO
Main reason for referral	

	Dia you have dimently understanding the question of guidelines :
Question 16	YES/NO
Care plan status	
Question 17	YES/NO
Dementia status	
Question 18	YES/NO
Activity limitations	
Question 19	YES/NO
Health conditions	
Question 20a, b & c	YES/NO
Type of therapy/ service(s) received &	
mode	
Question 21a & b	YES/NO
DTC funded services ceased	
Question 22	YES/NO
Reason for exit	

2.2 Did you have any difficulty using the code lists for health conditions (Questions 15 & 19)?

lf yes,	please outline the difficulties you encountered.	YES / NO
2.3	Would you have any difficulty identifying a main reason for referral (Questional) all clients?	
lf yes,	please explain further.	YES / NO
2.4	Did you find the Guidelines clear and easy to use?	YES / NO
If no, µ	please outline the reasons why.	
2.5	The 'scope of the survey' is outlined on page 7 of the Guidelines. Please c the definitions used for DTC agencies, DTC clients and DTC services.	omment on

.....

2.6 Please add any further comments you'd like to make which reflect your experience in completing the field test forms and using the Guidelines.

Thank you for participating in the field test and providing feedback.